2022 FC 1168

T-669-19

IN THE MATTER OF THE SECURE AIR TRAVEL ACT

Bhagat Singh Brar (Appellant)

v.

Canada (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness) (Respondent) and

T-670-19

Parvkar Singh Dulai (Appellant)

V.

Canada (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness) (Respondent)

INDEXED As: Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness)

Federal Court, Noël J.—Vancouver, April 19-22; Ottawa, August 10, 2022.

Security Intelligence — Secure Air Travel Act — Appeals composed of multi-pronged case in which reasonableness of impugned decision addressed in separate decisions — Present decision considering whether Secure Air Travel Act (SATA), ss. 8, 9(1)(a) infringing appellants mobility rights protected by Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (Charter), s. 6, whether SATA, ss. 15, 16 violating appellants' rights to liberty, security of person under Charter, s. 7 — Minister having reasonable grounds to suspect that appellants threat to transportation security, that they would travel by air for purpose of committing criminal offence — Written denial of boarding issued to appellants after boarding attempt — Applicants applied for administrative recourse seeking removal of their names from SATA list — Minister maintaining appellants' listed status under SATA — Appellants requesting removal of their names from list, declaration that SATA, ss. 8, 15, 16, 9(1)(a) of SATA unconstitutional — Stating that Minister's decisions unreasonable, that procedures set out in SATA violating their common law rights to procedural fairness — Appellants' listing on no-fly list determined reasonable pursuant to SATA, s. 8(1)(b) in previous decisions — Appellant Mr. Dulai submitting restriction on his ability to fly domestically significant limit on his capacity to pursue livelihood — Maintaining no evidence to suggest that he would fly somewhere in Canada to commit terrorism offence — Whether SATA infringing applicants' Charter rights — Mr. Dulai's s. 6 mobility rights under Charter breached — Evidence establishing that until Mr. Dulai denied boarding, air travel within Canada important for him to earn living — These Charter breaches justified under s. 1 — SATA's provisions limiting appellant's s. 6 Charter rights well-defined, explicit, legally binding — Protecting national security pressing, substantial objective — Safety of air travel, passengers pressing legislative goal of SATA — Causal link between air transportation safety, terrorist attacks, enforced restrictions flowing from SATA — Provisions of law limiting individual's movements

rationally connected to law's purpose — State action limiting Mr. Dulai's mobility rights rationally connected to law's objective — As to Charter, s. 7, question here whether being listed on no-fly list, restriction on air travel attenuated by SATA's administrative review, appeal mechanism — Appellants' s. 7 right to security of person adversely affected — However, process in place such that limits on those rights complying with principles of fundamental justice — SATA, amici curiae providing substantial substitute to ensure fair process — SATA process affording right to be heard — Appointing amici in present case ensured fair procedure — Appeals dismissed.

Constitutional Law — Charter of Rights — Mobility Rights — Appellant Dulai claiming that Secure Air Travel Act (SATA), ss. 8, 9(1)(a) infringing his mobility rights protected by Charter, s. 6 following respondent Minister's decisions to include appellants on SATA's no-fly list — Minister having reasonable grounds to suspect that appellants threat to transportation security, that they would travel by air for purpose of committing criminal offence — Applicants applied for administrative recourse seeking removal of their names from SATA list — Minister maintaining appellants' listed status under SATA — Appellant Mr. Dulai submitting restriction on his ability to fly domestically significant limit on his capacity to pursue livelihood — Maintaining no evidence to suggest that he would fly to commit terrorism offence — Whether SATA, ss. 8, 9(1)(a) infringing Mr. Dulai's s. 6 Charter mobility rights -Mr. Dulai's mobility rights under Charter breached — Means of transportation to give effect to travel is a necessity, when alternative means available are just not reasonable, realistic and practical — Mr. Dulai cannot travel by air, which prevents him from leaving the continent by plane — Mr. Dulai's Charter, s. 6(2)(b) also breached — Fact Mr. Dulai's national mobility rights do not include air travel has clearly hampered his ability to earn a living in provinces other than his own — These breaches justified under Charter, s. 1 — Limits imposed on Mr. Dulai result of evidence-based suspicions that he could fly abroad in order to plot terrorist attack — Causal link between goal of air transportation safety, terrorist attacks, enforced restrictions flowing from SATA — State action limiting Mr. Dulai's mobility rights rationally connected to law's objective — SATA obstructing mobility only to extent necessary to accomplish goal of air transport safety — Text of SATA itself not limiting mobility rights - Rather, restrictions on mobility result of being listed pursuant to SATA, s. 8, combination of Secure Air Travel Regulations, ministerial directions — SATA scheme allowing for impairment of individual's rights to be commensurate to threat posed — State action limiting Mr. Dulai's mobility rights minimally impairing in this case — Infringement justified under Charter, s. 1.

Constitutional Law — Charter of Rights — Life, Liberty and Security — Appellants claiming that Secure Air Travel Act (SATA), ss. 15, 16 violating their rights to liberty, security of person protected by Charter, s. 7 following respondent Minister's decisions to include appellants on SATA's no-fly list Minister having reasonable grounds to suspect appellants threat to transportation security, that they would travel by air for purpose of committing criminal offence — Applicants applied for administrative recourse seeking removal of their names from SATA list — Minister maintaining appellants' listed status under SATA — Appellants submitting not given incompressible minimum amount of disclosure necessary to satisfy requirements of procedural fairness, compliance with Charter, s. 7 — Although SATA deprived appellants of their right to security of person, this violation done in accordance with principles of fundamental justice — SATA, amici curiae providing substantial substitute to ensure fair process — Necessary in the present case to identify the limits, if any, imposed on section 7 rights by SATA to persons on the no-fly list — Right to full knowledge of case not absolute — Question here whether being listed on no-fly list, restriction on air travel attenuated by SATA's administrative review, appeal mechanism — SATA process affording right to be heard — Appointing amici in present case ensured fair procedure — Amici meaningful, substantial substitutes for absolute disclosure for purposes of SATA appeal — Appellants having sufficient understanding of case — Balancing act between acceptable judicial system that ensures air transportation safety, providing fair recourse to impacted citizens achieved in circumstances -Given finding herein that SATA's administrative review, appeal procedure fair processes that comply with principles of natural justice, Charter, s. 1 analysis not necessary.

These appeals were composed of a multi-pronged case in which the reasonableness of the impugned decision was being addressed in separate decisions. The present decision considered

¹ See: Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2022 FC 1163 and Dulai v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2022 FC 1164.

whether section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the Secure Air Travel Act (SATA) infringe the appellants' mobility rights protected by section 6 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (Charter), and whether sections 15 and 16 of SATA violate their rights to liberty and security of the person under section 7 of the Charter, on the basis that the impugned provisions of the SATA permit the Minister, and the Court, to determine the reasonableness of (1) the appellants' designation as listed persons under the SATA, and (2) the Minister's decision to list the appellants, based on information that is not disclosed to them and to which they have no opportunity to respond.

The appellants' names were included on the no-fly list on the basis that there were reasonable grounds to suspect that they would (1) engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security (paragraph 8(1)(a) of SATA), and/or (2) travel by air for the purpose of committing an act or omission that is an offence under the Criminal Code (paragraph 8(1)(b) of SATA). When the appellants attempted to board flights, a written denial of boarding under the Passenger Protect Program was issued to them pursuant to a direction under paragraph 9(1)(a) of SATA. The applicants each submitted an application for administrative recourse to the Passenger Protect Inquiries Office, seeking the removal of their names from the SATA list pursuant to section 15 of SATA. The Minister advised the appellants of his decisions to maintain their listed status under SATA. In their notices of appeal, the appellants requested the removal of their names from the SATA list pursuant to subsection 16(5) of the SATA, or the remittance of the matter back to the Minister for redetermination. They also requested that sections 8, 15 and 16, as well as paragraph 9(1)(a) of SATA be declared unconstitutional and therefore of no force and effect. Among other things, the appellants stated that the Minister's decisions were unreasonable and that the procedures set out in SATA violated their common law rights to procedural fairness seeing as SATA deprived them of their right to know the cases against them and the right to answer those cases.

In *Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness)*, 2022 FC 1163 and *Dulai v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness)*, 2022 FC 1164 (the reasonableness decisions), the Minister's determinations pursuant to paragraph 8(1)(a) were found to be unreasonable given the lack of supporting evidence, but the appellants' listing on the no-fly list was nevertheless found to be reasonable pursuant to paragraph 8(1)(b).

Mr. Brar did not make any specific submissions in relation to section 6 of the Charter. Mr. Dulai submitted, *inter alia*, that the restriction on his ability to fly domestically was a significant limit on his capacity to pursue a livelihood. Mr. Dulai argued that the ban on flying domestically was not rationally connected to the objective of protecting Canada's national security or preventing him from flying to engage in terrorism-related activity. He maintained that there was no evidence to suggest that he would fly somewhere in Canada to commit a terrorism offence. As to the section 7 of the Charter challenge, the appellants submitted that they were not given the incompressible minimum amount of disclosure necessary to satisfy the requirements of procedural fairness and compliance with section 7.

At issue was whether section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of SATA infringed on Mr. Dulai's mobility rights pursuant to section 6 of the Charter; if so, whether this infringement could be justified under section 1 of the Charter; and whether sections 15 and 16 of SATA violated both appellants' rights under section 7 of the Charter.

Held, the appeals should be dismissed.

Mr. Dulai's paragraph 6(1) Charter rights were breached. The means of transportation to give effect to travel is a necessity, when alternative means available are just not reasonable, realistic and practical. Mr. Dulai cannot travel by air, which prevents him from leaving the continent by plane. Mobility is an essential component in fulfilling professional, personal, leisure, and family needs. The right to leave, return, and live in Canada encompassed in subsection 6(1) of the Charter are part of society's fundamental values and must be recognized as such. Mr. Dulai's paragraph 6(2)(b) Charter rights were also breached. The evidence established that until Mr. Dulai was denied boarding, air travel within Canada was important for him to earn a living. The fact that Mr. Dulai's national mobility rights do not include air travel has clearly hampered his ability to earn a living in provinces other than his own. These Charter breaches could be justified under section 1 thereof. Imposing a limit on mobility rights may be justified in appropriate circumstances, such as a reasonable method of

addressing national security concerns. SATA's provisions limiting the appellant's section 6 rights are well-defined, explicit, and legally binding. The limits imposed on Mr. Dulai were the result of evidence-based suspicions that he could fly abroad in order to plot a terrorist attack. The Government of Canada must enact laws that protect national security and intelligence activities in a way that respects rights and freedoms and encourage the international community to do the same. Protecting national security is a pressing and substantial objective. Canada's efforts to ensure the safety of air travel for all Canadians and passengers is a pressing legislative goal of SATA and part of a larger thrust to promote security beyond national borders, as required by Canada's role on the international stage. There is a causal link between the goal of air transportation safety, terrorist attacks, and the restrictions that can be enforced that flow from SATA. As a result, the provisions of the law that lead to limiting an individual's movements are rationally connected to the law's purpose. The state action limiting Mr. Dulai's mobility rights was rationally connected to the law's objective. SATA obstructs mobility only to the extent that is necessary to accomplish the goal of air transport safety. Ensuring safety in air transportation and limiting air travel for terrorist purposes necessarily involves some infringement of mobility rights. The text of SATA itself does not limit the mobility rights. Rather, the restrictions on mobility are a result of being listed pursuant to section 8 and a combination of the Secure Air Travel Regulations and ministerial directions issued pursuant to subsection 9(1) of SATA. The SATA scheme is not a blunt instrument; it allows for the impairment of an individual's rights to be commensurate to the threat posed by that individual, thus minimally impairing the right. Given the Court's finding in the reasonableness decisions, the state action limiting Mr. Dulai's mobility rights was, in this case, minimally impairing. The overall air safety issue outweighed any negative impact on both appellants. To conclude on Mr. Dulai's section 6 Charter rights, section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of SATA alone did not infringe the appellant's mobility rights, but the SATA scheme did. This infringement was justified under section 1 of the Charter.

Although SATA deprived the appellants of their right to the security of the person, this violation was done in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice. Indeed, SATA and the inclusion of amici provided a substantial substitute to ensure a fair process. Section 7 of the Charter guarantees the right to life, liberty and security of the person and contains a built-in safeguard for those rights, stating that they can only be encroached upon in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice. Section 7 is concerned with whether a limit imposed on a Charter right has been implemented in a way that is consistent with natural justice principles. It was necessary in the present case to identify the limits, if any, imposed on section 7 rights by SATA to persons on the nofly list, evaluate the seriousness of these limits and assess whether or not SATA offers a procedure that is fair, keeping in mind the particular circumstances and the consequences of the intrusion on life, liberty or security. In the two current appeals, some information had to remain concealed from the appellants and the public to protect Canada's national security and intelligence. The right to full knowledge of the case is not absolute and some give and take is unavoidable in designing a process that addresses national security issues. The question was whether being listed on the no-fly list and restriction on air travel is attenuated by SATA's administrative review and appeal mechanism that provide appellants with a process that takes into account the imperative of protecting national security information. There was no question that the lives of the appellants were affected as a result of being associated with terrorism and terrorist activities. The appellants' section 7 Charter security of the person right was adversely affected. The question was whether the process in place is such that the limits on section 7 rights comply with the principles of fundamental justice. The SATA process followed in the case at bar, without a doubt, afforded the right to be heard. SATA does not provide for special advocates as it does in the *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act* certificate procedures. Appointing amici curiae in the present case ensured a fair procedure and showed the designated judge to not only be independent and impartial, but also appear to be as such. The amici mandated to represent the appellants' interests were meaningful and substantial substitutes for absolute disclosure for the purposes of a SATA appeal. The appellants had a sufficient understanding of the case to which they had to respond. There is a delicate balancing act between an acceptable judicial system that ensures air transportation safety and providing a fair recourse to impacted citizens. This balancing act was achieved in the circumstances. That said, in order to make the SATA appeal provisions more consistent in their application and ensure procedural fairness when responding to the particulars of such appeals, the appointment of amicus curiae or an equivalent should be legislated and not left to a designated judge's discretion. Given the finding herein that SATA's administrative review and appeal procedure available to listed individuals are fair processes that comply with the principles of natural justice when considering relevant factors, it was

not necessary to go through a section 1 analysis with respect to the section 7 rights at issue.

STATUTES AND REGULATIONS CITED

Access to Information Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. A-1, s. 16.

Aeronautics Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. A-2.

Anti-Terrorism Act, 2015, S.C. 2015, c. 20.

Bill C-51, An Act to enact the Security of Canada Information Sharing Act and the Secure Air Travel Act, to amend the Criminal Code, the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act and the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other Acts, 2nd Sess., 41st Parl., 2015.

Canada Evidence Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-5, s. 38.

Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, being Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, Schedule B, Canada Act 1982, 1982, c. 11 (U.K.) [R.S.C., 1985, Appendix II, No. 44], ss. 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 15, 16, 33.

Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-23, s. 18.1.

Constitution Act, 1867, 30 & 31 Vict., c. 3 (U.K.) (as am. by Canada Act 1982, 1982, c. 11 (U.K.), Schedule to the Constitution Act, 1982, Item 1) [R.S.C., 1985, Appendix II, No. 5], s. 101.

Criminal Code, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-46, ss. 2 "terrorism offence", 83.18, 83.19, 83.2.

Federal Courts Rules, SOR/98-106, r. 63(1)(e).

Immigration and Refugee Protection Act, S.C. 2001, c. 27, s. 83.

International Transfer of Offenders Act, S.C. 2004, c. 21.

National Security Act, 2017, S.C. 2019, c. 13, preamble.

Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act, S.C. 2000, c. 5, ss. 7(3)(c.1)(i),(c.2)(ii).

Privacy Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. P-21, ss. 69, 70.

Secure Air Travel Act, S.C. 2015, c. 20, s. 11, ss. 4(1), 5, 6, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12, 13(a), 15, 16, 17, 20.

Secure Air Travel Regulations, SOR/2015-181.

Transport Security Amendment (Serious Crime) Act 2021, No. 44 (2021) (Austl.).

CASES CITED

APPLIED:

Charkaoui v. Canada (Citizenship and Immigration), 2007 SCC 9, [2007] 1 S.C.R. 350; Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness, 2020 FC 729, [2020] 4 F.C.R. 557; Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd. (Re), [1998] 1 S.C.R. 27, (1998), 154 D.L.R. (4th) 193; Canada (Citizenship and Immigration) v. Harkat, 2014 SCC 37, [2014] 2 S.C.R. 33; R. v. Oakes, [1986] 1 S.C.R. 103, (1986), 26 D.L.R. (4th) 200; R. v. Orbanski; R. v. Elias, 2005 SCC 37, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 3.

CONSIDERED:

Doré v. Barreau du Québec, 2012 SCC 12, [2012] 1 S.C.R. 395; United States of America v.

Cotroni; United States of America v. El Zein, [1989] 1 S.C.R. 1469, (1989), 48 C.C.C. (3d) 193; Divito v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2013 SCC 47, [2013] 3 S.C.R. 157; Law society of Upper Canada v. Skapinker, [1984] 1 S.C.R. 357, (1984), 9 D.L.R. (4th) 161; Black v. Law Society of Alberta, [1989] 1 S.C.R. 591, (1989), 58 D.L.R. (4th) 317; Frank v. Canada (Attorney General), 2019 SCC 1, [2019] 1 S.C.R. 3; Conseil scolaire francophone de la Colombie-Britannique v. British Columbia, 2020 SCC 13, [2020] 1 S.C.R. 678; Taylor v. Newfoundland and Labrador, 2020 NLSC 125 (CanLII); Black v. Canada (Prime Minister) (2001), 54 O.R. (3d) 215, 199 D.L.R. (4th) 228 (C.A.); Canada (Attorney General) v. JTI-Macdonald Corp., 2007 SCC 30, [2007] 2 S.C.R. 610; F.H. v. McDougall, 2008 SCC 53, [2008] 3 S.C.R. 41; RJR-Macdonald v. Canada (Attorney General), [1995] 3 S.C.R. 199, (1995), 127 D.L.R. (4th) 1; Ruby v. Canada (Solicitor General), 2002 SCC 75, [2002] 4 S.C.R. 3; Toronto Star Newspapers Ltd. v. Ontario, 2005 SCC 41, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 188; Charkaoui v. Canada (Citizenship and Immigration), 2008 SCC 38, [2008] 2 S.C.R. 326; Sogi v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), 2003 FC 1429, [2004] 2 F.C.R. 427; X (Re), 2017 FC 136, [2017] 4 F.C.R. 391.

REFERRED TO:

Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2022 FC 1163; Dulai v. Canada (Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2021 FC 932; Dulai v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2021 FC 932; Dulai v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2021 FC 933; Sriskandarajah v. United States of America, 2012 SCC 70, [2012] 3 S.C.R. 609; R. v. Nikal, [1996] 1 S.C.R. 1013, (1996), 133 D.L.R. (4th) 658; Khadr v. Canada (Attorney General), 2006 FC 727, [2007] 2 F.C.R. 218; Kamel v. Canada (Attorney General), 2008 FC 338, [2009] 1 F.C.R. 59; Canadian Egg Marketing Agency v. Richardson, [1998] 3 S.C.R. 157, (1998), 166 D.L.R. (4th) 1; Newfoundland and Labrador Nurses' Union v. Newfoundland and Labrador (Treasury Board), 2011 SCC 62, [2011] 3 S.C.R. 708; Baker v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), [1999] 2 S.C.R. 817, (1999), 174 D.L.R. (4th) 193.

AUTHORS CITED

Canada. Parliament. *Debates of the Senate*, 41st Parl., 2nd Sess., Vol. 149, No. 142 (14 May 2015).

Canada. Parliament. *House of Commons Debates*, 41st Parl., 2nd Sess., Vol. 147 (February 19, 2015).

Canada. Parliament. House of Commons. *Standing Committee on Public Safety and National Security. Evidence*, 42nd Parl., 1st Sess., No. 90 (7 December 2017).

Canada. Parliament. Senate. *Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence*, 41st Parl., 2nd Sess., Issue No. 18 (May, 28, 2015).

Canada. Parliament. Senate. *Proceedings of the Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defence*, 42nd Parl., 1st Sess., Issue No. 40 (April 10, 2019).

Hogg Peter W. "The Living Tree Doctrine" in *Constitutional Law of Canada*, Vol. 2, 5th ed. Scarborough, Ont.: Thomson/Carswell, 2007.

Public Safety Canada. 2016 Public Report on the Terrorist Threat to Canada, 2016.

APPEALS addressing the appellants' claims that section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the Secure Air Travel Act (SATA) infringed their mobility rights protected by section 6 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms (Charter), and that sections 15 and 16 of SATA violated their rights to liberty and security of the person protected by section 7 of the Charter following the respondent Minister's decisions to include the appellants on SATA's no-fly list. Appeals dismissed.

APPEARANCES

Karin Blok and Eric Purtzki for appellant Brar.

Rebecca McConchie and Sadaf Kashfi for appellant Dulai.

Helen Park, Courtenay Landsiedel and Stéphanie Morin for respondent.

Gib van Ert and Colin Baxter as amici curiae.

SOLICITORS OF RECORD

Fowler and Blok Criminal Defence Lawyers, Vancouver, for appellant Brar.

McConchie Criminal Law, Vancouver, and Edelmann & Co. Law Offices, Vancouver, for appellant Dulai.

Deputy Attorney General of Canada for respondent.

Gib van Ert and Colin Baxter as amici curiae.

The following are the reasons for judgment and judgment rendered in English by

Noël J.:

Table of contents

- Overview
- II. National security
- III. Summary of the facts
 - A. Facts in Mr. Brar's appeal
 - B. Facts in Mr. Dulai's appeal
 - C. Procedural history covering both appeals (Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai)
- IV. Review and analysis of the SATA
 - A. General
 - B. Operation of the SATA
 - C. Appeal provisions of the SATA
- V. Constitutional questions— Section 6 of the Charter: Mobility rights
 - A. Summary of the submissions of the Appellants and Respondent
 - (1) Submissions of Mr. Brar
 - (2) Submissions of Mr. Dulai
 - (3) Submissions of the Respondent
- VI. The Oakes or the Doré approach
- VII. Analysis: Section 6 of the Charter
 - A. Legislation
 - (1) Section 6 of the Charter
 - (2) Section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA
 - B. The intricacies of the current appeals
 - C. The meaning of mobility

- (1) Interpreting the Charter
 - (a) Purposive analysis and jurisprudential guidance on mobility rights
 - (b) Section 6 mobility rights are not subject to the notwithstanding clause
 - (c) The interpretative language
 - (d) Analysis: Subsection 6(1)—International mobility rights
 - (e) Analysis: Subsections 6(2), 6(3), and 6(4) National mobility rights for the purpose of taking up residence in any province and to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province
- (2) Analysis: Section 1 of the Charter
 - (a) General
 - (i) Is the infringement prescribed by law?
 - (ii) Is the objective pressing and substantial?
 - (iii) Is there proportionality between the legislative objective and the means to achieve it?
 - (b) Is the law or state action rationally connected to its purpose?
 - (c) Does the law or state action minimally impair the infringed right?
- (3) Do the positive effects of the law or state action outweigh the negative effects of the legislation or state action?
- D. Conclusion on section 6 of the Charter
- VIII.Constitutional questions—Section 7 of the Charter—Life, Liberty and Security of the Person
 - A. Summary of the submissions of the Appellants and Respondent
 - (1) Submissions of Mr. Brar
 - (2) Submissions of Mr. Dulai
 - (3) Submissions of the Respondent
- IX. Analysis: Section 7 of the Charter
 - A. Legislation
 - (1) Section 7 of the Charter
 - (2) Sections 15 and 16 of the SATA
 - B. Jurisprudential teachings on section 7 analysis involving national security issues
 - C. The necessity to abide by the principles of fundamental justice
 - (1) Is section 7 of the Charter engaged?
 - (2) The role of the designated judge
 - (3) The role and mandate of the Amici
 - (4) The right to a hearing
 - (5) The impartial and independent judge
 - (6) Disclosure
 - (7) The decision has to be made on the facts and law
 - D. Conclusion on section 7 analysis
- X. Overall conclusions on sections 6 and 7 of the Charter
- XI. A few last words

JUDGMENT in T-669-19 and T-670-19

I. Overview [Table of Contents]

- [1] These appeals are composed of a multi-pronged case in which the Appellants' claims that pertain to questions relating to sections 6 and 7 of the *Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms*, being Part I of the *Constitution Act*, 1982, Schedule B, *Canada Act 1982*, 1982, c. 11 (U.K.) [R.S.C., 1985, Appendix II, No. 44] (Charter) and their claims relating to the reasonableness of a Minister's decision are being addressed in separate decisions. More specifically, two decisions—*Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness*), 2022 FC 1163 (*Brar 2022*) and *Dulai v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness*), 2022 FC 1164 (*Dulai 2022*)—deal with the reasonableness of the Minister's decision and are being issued concurrently (the Reasonableness Decisions). The Reasonableness Decisions include a confidential set of reasons. The present judgment and reasons (the Decision) address constitutional issues raised in both appeals.
- [2] These are the first appeals filed pursuant to the *Secure Air Travel Act*, S.C. 2015, c. 20, s. 11 (SATA) since its enactment in 2015. The parties to these appeal proceedings have contested parts of the legislation which therefore requires that the Court examine and provide clarity and guidance where deemed necessary.
- [3] The Decision considers whether section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA infringe the Appellants' mobility rights protected by section 6 of the Charter, and whether sections 15 and 16 of the SATA violate the Appellants' rights under section 7 of the Charter, specifically their rights to liberty and security of the person, on the basis that the impugned provisions of the SATA permit the Minister, and the Court, to determine the reasonableness of (1) the Appellants' designation as listed persons under the SATA, and (2) the Minister's decision to list the Appellants, based on information that is not disclosed to them and to which they have no opportunity to respond.
- [4] The Appellants remain listed individuals pursuant to section 8 of the SATA given the Minister's decision to deny their applications for administrative recourse under section 15 of the SATA, which sought to have their names removed from the "no-fly" list. The Minister made the decision after determining that he had reasonable grounds to suspect that the Appellants would either "engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security" or "travel by air for the purpose of committing an act or omission" that:
 - is an offence under sections 83.18, 83.19 or 83.2 of the *Criminal Code*, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-46 (*Criminal Code*) or an offence referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition "terrorism offence" in section 2 of that Act, or
 - (ii) if it were committed in Canada, would constitute an offence referred to in subparagraph (i) (see paragraphs 8(1)(a) and 8(1)(b) of the SATA).

Although I conclude in the Reasonableness Decisions that the Minister's determinations pursuant to paragraph 8(1)(a) of the SATA are unreasonable given the lack of supporting evidence, the Appellants' listing on the no-fly list of the SATA is nevertheless reasonable pursuant to paragraph 8(1)(b) of the SATA (see *Brar 2022* and *Dulai 2022*).

[5] The tension between individual rights and collective interests in security was discussed at length in two related prior decisions published in October 2021 (*Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness)*, 2021 FC 932 (*Brar 2021*) and

Dulai v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2021 FC 933 (Dulai 2021)).

[6] In those decisions, I considered whether disclosing the redacted information and other evidence adduced during *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person. Upon finding in the affirmative with respect to certain information, I then asked if the protected information and other evidence could be disclosed to the Appellants in the form of a summary or otherwise in a way that would not jeopardize national security or endanger the safety of any person. The outcome of those decisions was that some redactions were confirmed by the Court, some were fully or partially lifted, and the information underneath other redactions was summarized. The delicate balance between protecting sensitive information and the right of the person to know the case against them is not uncommon in national security matters, as demonstrated by *Charkaoui v. Canada (Citizenship and Immigration)*, 2007 SCC 9, [2007] 1 S.C.R. 350 (*Charkaoui l*) [at paragraphs 55 and 58]:

Confidentiality is a constant preoccupation of the certificate scheme. The judge "shall ensure" the confidentiality of the information on which the certificate is based and of any other evidence if, in the opinion of the judge, disclosure would be injurious to national security or to the safety of any person: s. 78(b). At the request of either minister "at any time during the proceedings", the judge "shall hear" information or evidence in the absence of the named person and his or her counsel if, in the opinion of the judge, its disclosure would be injurious to national security or to the safety of any person: s. 78(e). The judge "shall provide" the named person with a summary of information that enables him or her to be reasonably informed of the circumstances giving rise to the certificate, but the summary cannot include anything that would, in the opinion of the judge, be injurious to national security or to the safety of any person: s. 78(h). Ultimately, the judge may have to consider information that is not included in the summary: s. 78(q). In the result, the judge may be required to decide the case, wholly or in part, on the basis of information that the named person and his or her counsel never see. The named person may know nothing of the case to meet, and although technically afforded an opportunity to be heard, may be left in a position of having no idea as to what needs to be said.

More particularly, the Court has repeatedly recognized that national security considerations can limit the extent of disclosure of information to the affected individual. In Chiarelli, this Court found that the Security Intelligence Review Committee (SIRC) could, in investigating certificates under the former Immigration Act, 1976, S.C. 1976-77, c. 52 (later R.S.C. 1985, c. I-2), refuse to disclose details of investigation techniques and police sources. The context for elucidating the principles of fundamental justice in that case included the state's "interest in effectively conducting national security and criminal intelligence investigations and in protecting police sources" (p. 744). In Suresh, this Court held that a refugee facing the possibility of deportation to torture was entitled to disclosure of all the information on which the Minister was basing his or her decision, "[s]ubject to privilege or similar valid reasons for reduced disclosure, such as safeguarding confidential public security documents" (para. 122). And, in Ruby v. Canada (Solicitor General), [2002] 4 S.C.R. 3, 2002 SCC 75, the Court upheld the section of the Privacy Act, R.S.C. 1985, c. P-21, that mandates in camera and ex parte proceedings where the government claims an exemption from disclosure on grounds of national security or maintenance of foreign confidences. The Court made clear that these societal concerns formed part of the relevant context for determining the scope of the applicable principles of fundamental justice (paras. 38-44).

The principles described above for *Immigration and Refugee Protection Act*, S.C. 2001, c. 27 (IRPA) certificate's proceedings are applicable to the SATA (see *Brar v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness)*, 2020 FC 729, [2020] 4 F.C.R. 557 (*Brar 2020*), at paragraphs 92, 95, 100, 105, etc.).

[7] For the following reasons, the appeal as it relates to the breaches of the Appellants' constitutional rights is dismissed.

II. National security [Table of Contents]

- [8] The role of the Canadian Government to ensure security in air transportation is essential. As part of Canada's societal commitment, it is a top priority to guarantee that all Canadians live in a safe environment. In addition to its domestic responsibility to maintain community safety, the Canadian Government also has international responsibilities towards partner countries.
- [9] Lesley Soper, a witness in these appeals, included in her affidavit a comment made on February 19, 2015, by the Parliamentary Secretary to the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration when speaking about Bill C-51 [An Act to enact the Security of Canada Information Sharing Act and the Secure Air Travel Act, to amend the Criminal Code, the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act and the Immigration and Refugee Protection Act and to make related and consequential amendments to other Acts, 2nd Sess., 41st Parl., 2015] (that would later become the SATA) in the House of Commons [House of Commons Debates, 41st Parl., 2nd Sess. (February 19, 2015), at page 11403]:

One of the gravest threats to global security is the phenomenon of terrorist travel: individuals who travel by air to regions of unrest and violence to engage in terrorist activities. These individuals do not pose an immediate threat to an airplane. Indeed, they want their flight to be safe and uneventful so that they can reach their destinations.

While these violent extremists are not an immediate threat to an airplane or to passengers when they travel, they do pose a significant danger to those people living in the countries where they undergo their training and terrorist activities and in the countries in which they want to perpetrate their crimes. Moreover, there is a great risk that they will return to their home country to test out their newly acquired skills by plotting and carrying out attacks on innocent civilians.

(Lesley Soper's supplementary affidavit, February 25, 2022, at paragraph 18)

[10] The threat posed by individuals suspected of travelling abroad to engage in extremist activity (extremist travellers) is significant and presents difficult challenges to both Canada and its allies. According to Public Safety Canada's 2016 Public Report on the Terrorist Threat to Canada [at page 3]:

The principal terrorist threat to Canada remains that posed by violent extremists who could be inspired to carry out an attack in Canada. Violent extremist ideologies espoused by terrorist groups like Daesh and al-Qaida continue to appeal to certain individuals in Canada.

As in recent years, the Government of Canada has continued to monitor and respond to the threat of extremist travellers, that is, individuals who are suspected of travelling abroad to engage in terrorism-related activity. The phenomenon of extremist travellers—including those abroad, those who return, and even those prevented from travelling—poses a range of security concerns for Canada. As of the end of 2015, the Government was aware of approximately 180 individuals with a nexus to Canada who were abroad and who were suspected of engaging in terrorism-related activities. The Government was also aware of a further 60 extremist travellers who had returned to Canada.

(Lesley Soper's supplementary affidavit, February 25, 2022, at paragraph 26)

- [11] The Government relies on different tools to manage and mitigate this threat at home. For example, terrorism peace bonds entail courts imposing conditions on extremist travellers. The Government can also cancel, refuse or revoke passports when required. Since its adoption, Canada relies on the SATA to prevent travel to commit terrorism offences and threats to transportation security.
- [12] Canada's security commitments extend well beyond its borders. It is common knowledge that Canada is a signatory to a number of international treaties and agreements, which enables strong collaboration with international partners like the Five Eyes, the G7, the European Union, Interpol, and the United Nations. These alliances improve the sharing of information and best practices, but also call upon member states to do their part to ensure global security. In Canada, this responsibility has led to the adoption of a legislative framework that governs the provision of this security. In *Charkaoui I*, former Chief Justice McLachlin highlighted the inherent challenge in developing such a legislative framework [at paragraph 1]:

One of the most fundamental responsibilities of a government is to ensure the security of its citizens. This may require it to act on information that it cannot disclose and to detain people who threaten national security. Yet in a constitutional democracy, governments must act accountably and in conformity with the Constitution and the rights and liberties it guarantees. These two propositions describe a tension that lies at the heart of modern democratic governance. It is a tension that must be resolved in a way that respects the imperatives both of security and of accountable constitutional governance.

- [13] Indeed, a democratic government faces a perpetual challenge when establishing systems to ensure collective security because necessary measures to fulfil this goal must accord with the Constitution and the rights and liberties it guarantees. As part of this effort, the Government must safeguard national security information and intelligence when developing security systems such as the SATA. In this regard, the SATA is not the only legislation that seeks to safeguard sensitive information. For example, the *Canada Evidence Act*, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-5, at section 38, the IRPA at section 83, the *Access to Information Act*, R.S.C., 1985, c. A-1, at section 16, the *Privacy Act*, R.S.C., 1985, c. P-21, at sections 69 and 70, and the *Personal Information Protection and Electronic Documents Act*, S.C. 2000, c. 5, at subparagraphs 7(3)(c.1)(i) and (c.2)(ii) are some of the statutes that have similar legislative provisions to protect sensitive information.
- [14] Case law consistently holds that national security information and intelligence ought to be protected and can only be disclosed in summaries that do not reveal any information injurious to national security or that could endanger the safety of any person.

III. Summary of the facts [Table of Contents]

A. Facts in Mr. Brar's appeal

[15] On April 23, 2018, Mr. Brar's name was included on the no-fly list. Pursuant to the SATA, the Minister concluded that there were reasonable grounds to suspect that he would (1) engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security, and/or (2) travel by air for the purpose of committing an act or omission that is an offence under sections 83.18, 83.19 or 83.2 of the *Criminal Code*, or an offence referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition "terrorism offence" in section 2 of that Act.

- [16] The following day, Mr. Brar attempted twice to take flights that would eventually have transported him from Vancouver to Toronto, but each time a written denial of boarding under the Passenger Protect Program (PPP) was issued pursuant to a direction under paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA. This resulted in both WestJet and Air Canada denying Mr. Brar boarding at the Vancouver International Airport on that day.
- [17] On June 2, 2018, Mr. Brar submitted an application for administrative recourse to the Passenger Protect Inquiries Office (the PPIO) that sought the removal of his name from the SATA list pursuant to section 15 of the SATA. In response, the PPIO provided him with a two-page unclassified summary of the information supporting the decision to place his name on the SATA list. The PPIO further advised that the Minister would consider additional classified information when assessing his application under section 15 of the SATA. Pursuant to subsection 15(4) of the SATA, Mr. Brar was provided with the opportunity to make written representations in response to the unclassified information disclosed to him, which he submitted to the PPIO on December 3, 2018.
- [18] On December 21, 2018, the Minister advised Mr. Brar of his decision to maintain his status as a listed person under the SATA. Following a review of the classified and unclassified information provided, including Mr. Brar's written submissions, the Minister's delegate "concluded that there [were] reasonable grounds to suspect that [Mr. Brar would] engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security, or travel by air to commit certain terrorism offences."
- [19] On April 18, 2019, Mr. Brar filed a notice of appeal with this Court pursuant to subsection 16(2) of the SATA. In his notice of appeal, Mr. Brar asks this Court to order the removal of his name from the SATA list pursuant to subsection 16(5) of the SATA, or to order the remittance of the matter back to the Minister for redetermination. Mr. Brar also asks this Court to declare that sections 8, 15, 16 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA are unconstitutional and are therefore of no force and effect, or to read in such procedural safeguards that would cure any constitutional deficiencies in the SATA.
- [20] More specifically, Mr. Brar lists the following as the grounds of his appeal in his notice: the Minister's decision was unreasonable; and, the procedures set out in the SATA violate his common law rights to procedural fairness seeing as the SATA deprives him of his right to know the case against him and the right to answer that case. Mr. Brar also requested the disclosure of all material related to his application for recourse, all material related to the Minister's decision to designate him as a listed person, all material before the Minister's delegate on the application for recourse, and all other materials relating to the Minister's delegate decision to confirm his status as a listed person under the SATA.

B. Facts in Mr. Dulai's appeal [Table of Contents]

- [21] On March 29, 2018, Mr. Dulai's name was included on the no-fly list. It was concluded that there were reasonable grounds to suspect that he would (1) engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security, and/or (2) travel by air for the purpose of committing an act or omission that is an offence under sections 83.18, 83.19 or 83.2 of the *Criminal Code*, or an offence referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition "terrorism offence" in section 2 of that Act.
- [22] On May 17, 2018, Mr. Dulai was issued a written denial of boarding under the PPP preventing him from boarding a flight at the Vancouver International Airport

pursuant to a direction under paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA. Mr. Dulai was scheduled to travel from Vancouver to Toronto.

- [23] On June 8, 2018, the PPIO received Mr. Dulai's application for administrative recourse in which he sought the removal of his name from the SATA list, pursuant to section 15 of the SATA. In response, the PPIO provided him with a two-page unclassified summary of the information supporting the decision to place his name on the SATA list. The PPIO further advised that the Minister would consider additional classified information when assessing his application under section 15 of the SATA. Pursuant to subsection 15(4) of the SATA, Mr. Dulai was provided with the opportunity to make written representations in response to the unclassified information disclosed to him, which he submitted to the PPIO.
- [24] On January 30, 2019, the Minister advised Mr. Dulai of his decision to maintain his listed status under the SATA. Following a review of the classified and unclassified information provided, including Mr. Dulai's written submissions, the Minister's delegate "concluded that there [were] reasonable grounds to suspect that [Mr. Dulai would] engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security, or travel by air to commit certain terrorism offences."
- [25] On April 18, 2019, Mr. Dulai filed a notice of appeal with this Court pursuant to subsection 16(2) of the SATA. Mr. Dulai asks this Court to order the removal of his name from the SATA list pursuant to subsection 16(5) of the SATA, or to order the remittance of the matter back to the Minister for redetermination. Mr. Dulai also asks this Court to declare that sections 8, 15 and 16, as well as paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA are unconstitutional and therefore of no force and effect, or to read in such procedural safeguards that would cure any constitutional deficiencies in the SATA.
- [26] More specifically, Mr. Dulai enumerates the following grounds of appeal: that the Minister's decision was unreasonable and that the procedures set out in the SATA violate his common law rights to procedural fairness seeing as the SATA deprives him of his right to know the case against him and the right to answer that case. Mr. Dulai also requested the disclosure of all material related to his application for recourse, all material related to the Minister's decision to designate him as a listed person, all material before the Minister on the application for recourse, and all other material relating to the Minister's decision to confirm his status as a listed person under the SATA.
 - C. Procedural history covering both appeals (Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai) [Table of Contents]
- [27] Since these appeals have been initiated, several documents have been exchanged, case management conferences both public and *ex parte* have been held, public and *ex parte* hearings took place in both Ottawa and Vancouver, and decisions applicable to each case were published (*Brar 2020*, *Brar 2021* and *Dulai 2021*).
- [28] As mentioned in the Reasonableness Decisions, navigating the SATA legislation has been laborious, lengthy, and complex. It required that the Appellants, counsel, *amici curiae* (*Amici*) and this Court think about and test many areas of the law. Due to its length, the complete judicial history of these two appeals is available at Annex A. It includes information on every step made over the last three years and reflects both parties' dedication to these matters, and the great level of detail with which each step was handled.

IV. Review and analysis of the SATA [Table of Contents]

A. General

- [29] In order to analyze the questions in this matter, it is essential to undertake a review of the SATA first. An understanding of its legislative object, its operation, and its appeal mechanism is the compass that will be necessary to navigate these uncharted waters. This section addresses: (1) the context and legislative object of the SATA; (2) the operation of the SATA; and (3) the appeal provisions of the SATA. This methodology is in accordance with the modern approach to statutory interpretation endorsed by the Supreme Court of Canada (S.C.C.) and will allow the reader to have a better understanding of what the designated judge is asked to do when an appeal is initiated under the SATA. It will also help contextualize the mandate of the *Amici*. For the purposes of this section, I have relied, for the most part, on the *Brar 2020* decision at paragraphs 60–88, with some adjustments.
- [30] The S.C.C. has repeatedly endorsed the following concise summary of the law on statutory interpretation provided in *Rizzo & Rizzo Shoes Ltd. (Re)*, [1998] 1 S.C.R. 27, (1998), 154 D.L.R. (4th) 193 (*Rizzo*) [at paragraph 21]:

Although much has been written about the interpretation of legislation (see, e.g., Ruth Sullivan, *Statutory Interpretation* (1997); Ruth Sullivan, *Driedger on the Construction of Statutes* (3rd ed. 1994) (hereinafter "*Construction of Statutes*"); Pierre-André Côté, *The Interpretation of Legislation in Canada* (2nd ed. 1991)), Elmer Driedger in *Construction of Statutes* (2nd ed. 1983) best encapsulates the approach upon which I prefer to rely. He recognizes that statutory interpretation cannot be founded on the wording of the legislation alone. At p. 87 he states:

Today there is only one principle or approach, namely, the words of an Act are to be read in their entire context and in their grammatical and ordinary sense harmoniously with the scheme of the Act, the object of the Act, and the intention of Parliament.

- [31] The SATA's general object of balancing individual rights and freedoms with Canada's national security interests in air travel is evident when one analyzes the title of the Act, the summary and preamble of its enacting and amending omnibus legislation, the legal context at the time of its enactment, and the pertinent legislative debates in both chambers of Parliament.
- [32] After nearly a decade of operating the PPP (better known as the "no-fly list") via the *Aeronautics Act*, R.S.C., 1985, c. A-2, Parliament sought to create a specific legislative regime for the operation of this program (Lesley Soper's first affidavit, at paragraph 5). Accordingly, the *Anti-terrorism Act*, 2015, S.C. 2015, c. 20, introduced as an omnibus bill, significantly amended and restructured national security law in Canada and created the SATA in 2015. A few years later, the 42nd Parliament of Canada enacted the *National Security Act*, 2017, S.C. 2019, c. 13, which received royal assent on June 21, 2019. Once again, this legislation—also introduced as an omnibus bill—redrew the legal landscape regarding national security in Canada and amended an array of laws, including the SATA.
- [33] The SATA's objective of protecting Canada's national security interests and the safety of Canadians in relation to air travel is evidenced in its short title, "Secure Air Travel Act", as well as its legislative title, "An Act to enhance security relating to transportation and to prevent air travel for the purpose of engaging in acts of terrorism."

Moreover, the summary of the *Anti-terrorism Act*, *2015* confirms this object, noting the following:

Anti-terrorism Act, 2015, S.C. 2015, c. 20

Part 2 enacts the *Secure Air Travel Act* in order to provide a new legislative framework for identifying and responding to persons who may engage in an act that poses a threat to transportation security or who may travel by air for the purpose of committing a terrorism offence. That Act authorizes the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness to establish a list of such persons and to direct air carriers to take a specific action to prevent the commission of such acts. In addition, that Act establishes powers and prohibitions governing the collection, use and disclosure of information in support of its administration and enforcement. That Act includes an administrative recourse process for listed persons who have been denied transportation in accordance with a direction from the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness and provides appeal procedures for persons affected by any decision or action taken under that Act. That Act also specifies punishment for contraventions of listed provisions and authorizes the Minister of Transport to conduct inspections and issue compliance orders. Finally, this Part makes consequential amendments to the *Aeronautics Act* and the *Canada Evidence Act*.

[34] The overall purpose of the *National Security Act, 2017* was to address concerns expressed by the public and experts alike regarding a perceived failure of the *Antiterrorism Act, 2015* to balance national security interests with individual rights and freedoms. This is reflected in its preamble, which stipulates the following:

Preamble

Whereas a fundamental responsibility of the Government of Canada is to protect Canada's national security and the safety of Canadians;

Whereas that responsibility must be carried out in accordance with the rule of law and in a manner that safeguards the rights and freedoms of Canadians and that respects the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms;

Whereas the Government of Canada is committed to enhancing Canada's national security framework in order to keep Canadians safe while safeguarding their rights and freedoms;

Whereas the Government of Canada, by carrying out its national security and information activities in a manner that respects rights and freedoms, encourages the international community to do the same;

Whereas enhanced accountability and transparency are vital to ensuring public trust and confidence in Government of Canada institutions that carry out national security or intelligence activities;

Whereas those institutions must always be vigilant in order to uphold public safety;

Whereas those institutions must have powers that will enable them to keep pace with evolving threats and must use those powers in a manner that respects the rights and freedoms of Canadians;

Whereas many Canadians expressed concerns about provisions of the *Anti-terrorism Act*, 2015:

And whereas the Government of Canada engaged in comprehensive public consultations to obtain the views of Canadians on how to enhance Canada's national security framework and committed to introducing legislation to reflect the views and concerns expressed by Canadians:

- [35] Read together, the long and the short title of the SATA, the summary of the *Anti-terrorism Act*, 2015 and the preamble of the *National Security Act*, 2017 reveal the object of the SATA and how it fits into the overall legislative architecture of Canada's national security legislative scheme.
- [36] The Anti-terrorism Act, 2015 demonstrates that the object of the SATA is to give the Minister the ability to identify, and respond to, persons that pose a threat to transportation security or may travel by air for the purpose of committing a terrorism offence. At the same time, it must ensure that affected persons are provided with both an administrative review and an appeal mechanism that must protect confidential information.
- [37] The preamble of the *National Security Act, 2017* allows the reader to situate this intention within Parliament's overarching objective regarding national security: ensuring a careful balance between the rights and freedoms of individuals while protecting Canada's national security and the safety of Canadians.
- [38] The legislative object of protecting Canada's national security interests and the safety of Canadians with regard to air travel, in a manner that carefully balances this objective with the rights and freedoms of individuals, is consistent with the relevant jurisprudential context at the time of the enactment of the SATA. Indeed, in the context of certificate proceedings under the IRPA, the S.C.C. made it clear that a careful balance must be achieved between the collective interest in protecting confidential information for national security reasons and the interest in protecting individual rights and freedoms (see *Canada (Citizenship and Immigration) v. Harkat*, 2014 SCC 37, [2014] 2 S.C.R. 33 (*Harkat*), at paragraphs 40–44 and *Charkaoui I*, at paragraph 1).
- [39] Harkat and Charkaoui I were mentioned on numerous occasions by members of the legislature and witnesses before Parliament's two chambers when studying and debating the creation of the SATA in 2015, as well as during the amendment of the SATA between 2017 and 2019 (see *Debates of the Senate*, 41st Parl., 2nd Sess., Vol. 149, No. 142 (14 May 2015), at pages 3388–3389 (Honourable Senator Claudette Tardif) and House of Commons Standing Committee on Public Safety and National Security, *Evidence*, 42nd Parl., 1st Sess., No. 90 (7 December 2017), at pages 12–13).
- [40] In sum, this general object of balancing national security and the safety of Canadians with individual rights and freedoms is evident when one considers the SATA in its overall legislative context. Accordingly, when interpreting the legislative framework set out in the SATA, this general object must animate one's understanding of the statute's words (see *Rizzo*, at paragraph 21).

B. Operation of the SATA [Table of Contents]

[41] The provisions of the SATA outline the authority of the Minister to list individuals under the SATA, share information related to this list with domestic and foreign partners, and direct air carriers to take the necessary measures to prevent persons from engaging or attempting to engage in an act that threatens aviation security or travel for the purpose of terrorism. The statute also provides for an internal administrative recourse mechanism for listed persons to have their names removed from the list, and if unsuccessful at that stage, a right of appeal to the Federal Court.

[42] The starting point of any statutory analysis of the SATA is section 8. This section provides for the establishment of a list by the Minister (or their delegate) of persons whom they have "reasonable grounds to suspect" will:

List

- 8 (1) ...
 - (a) engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security; or
 - (b) travel by air for the purpose of committing an act or omission that
 - (i) is an offence under section 83.18, 83.19 or 83.2 of the *Criminal Code* or an offence referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition *terrorism offence* in section 2 of that Act, or
 - (ii) if it were committed in Canada, would constitute an offence referred to in subparagraph (i).
- [43] The scope of this power to list persons at subsection 8(1) includes all persons, both inside and outside Canada (subsection 4(1)), and includes acts or omissions committed outside Canada that would contravene the *Criminal Code* if committed in Canada, which are considered for the purpose of the SATA as acts committed within Canada (section 5). The list includes the first, middle and surname, any known alias, the date of birth, and the gender of the listed persons (subsection 8(1)).
- [44] The Minister (or their delegate) must review the list every 90 days to determine if the grounds on which a person was listed still exist (subsection 8(2)). It is possible to amend the list at any time in order to remove a name or to modify information relating to a listed person (subsection 8(3)). Section 20 prohibits the disclosure of the list or its contents other than in accordance with the exceptions stated in the SATA. In fact, a listed individual only becomes aware of their listing when they are denied transportation at an airport (see subsection 8(1) and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA and Lesley Soper's first affidavit, at paragraph 20).
- [45] Section 10 of the SATA provides that the Minister may collect information from, and disclose information to, the Minister of Transport, the Minister of Citizenship and Immigration, the Royal Canadian Mounted Police (RCMP), the Canadian Security Intelligence Service (CSIS), the Canada Border Services Agency (CBSA), and any other person or entity designated by regulations. The Minister may also share information obtained, or even the list itself, in whole or in part, with foreign states with which it holds written agreements, as well as receive information from these foreign states (sections 11 and 12).
- [46] In practice, the members of the Passenger Protect Advisory Group (PPAG) chaired by Public Safety Canada provide information to the Minister's delegate in order to determine who is placed on the SATA list. Each of the nominating members of the Advisory Group (Transport Canada, CSIS, RCMP, and CBSA) provide the full membership of the Advisory Group with a recommendation for listing, including a report providing information on an individual, as well as sufficient information to support their addition to the SATA list. The listing of the individual in question is then considered by the Advisory Group, which advises the Minister's delegate (usually a Senior Assistant Deputy Minister) on whether to ultimately list the individual pursuant to subsection 8(1)

- of the SATA. Review and updates of listings under subsection 8(2) are performed according to a similar procedure (Lesley Soper's first affidavit, at paragraphs 9–12).
- [47] Air carriers are key to the operation of the SATA regime. Notably, the SATA requires that all accredited air carriers or reservation operators working out of Canada, or for flights coming to Canada, comply with the SATA and its regulations before allowing any person to board an aircraft or transporting any person (subsection 6(1)). This includes the requirement to provide information concerning the persons who are on board or expected to be on board an aircraft for any flight (subsection 6(2)).
- [48] In practice, the SATA list is disclosed to Transport Canada pursuant to section 10 of the SATA. The department then discloses the list to air carriers and operators of aviation reservation systems pursuant to paragraph 13(a) of the SATA.
- [49] Subsection 9(1) of the SATA gives the Minister the power to direct an air carrier to "take a specific, reasonable and necessary action to prevent a listed person from engaging in any act set out in subsection 8(1)" as well as the power to "make directions respecting, in particular (a) the denial of transportation to a person; or (b) the screening of a person before they enter a sterile area of an airport or board an aircraft" when a positive match arises. When a denial of transportation under paragraph 9(1)(a) is directed, the listed person is provided with a written notice to this effect. As stated earlier, a person first becomes aware of their listing when the written notice is issued. Barring a denial, a listed person is not informed of their listing.
- [50] An individual who has been denied transportation pursuant to section 9 of the SATA can initiate an administrative recourse to have their name removed from the SATA list (subsection 15(1)). The individual can apply to the Minister in writing within 60 days of the denied transportation, although an extension may be granted pursuant to subsection 15(2). On receipt of the application, the Minister must decide whether there are still reasonable grounds to maintain the applicant's name on the list pursuant to subsection 15(4).
- [51] In considering a listed person's application for administrative recourse, the nominating member of the Advisory Group will provide information to help the Minister determine whether reasonable grounds exist to maintain the person's name on the SATA list. The Minister will also provide the listed person with an opportunity to make representations that will be considered in the decision (subsection 15(3)).
- [52] Section 15 of the SATA imposes no explicit obligation on the Minister to disclose any information to a listed person in order to assist them in making representations. However, in the cases at bar both Appellants received a two-page unclassified summary of the information that was placed before the Minister along with a statement that the Minister would also consider classified information in his decision (Lesley Soper's first affidavit, Document ii of Exhibit B).
- [53] Finally, once the Minister makes a decision on the listed individual's application for administrative recourse pursuant to subsection 15(4), the Minister must give notice to the listed individual without delay (subsection 15(5)). Pursuant to subsection 15(6), if the Minister does not make a decision within a period of 120 days after the day the application is received, the Minister is deemed to have decided to remove the individual's name from the list. The Minister may nevertheless extend this period by an additional 120 days, upon notice, if there is a lack of sufficient information available to make a decision.

C. Appeal provisions of the SATA [Table of Contents]

- [54] Beyond the internal decision-making process and administrative recourse provisions in the SATA, the legislative scheme provides for an external appeal to the Chief Justice of the Federal Court, or a judge designated by the Chief Justice, pursuant to the appeal procedures set out in section 16 of the SATA. In particular, the SATA provides that a person listed pursuant to section 8 who has been denied transportation as a result of a direction made pursuant to section 9 may appeal a decision made under section 15 within 60 days of the notice of decision (see subsections 16(1) and 16(2)). Pursuant to paragraph 63(1)(e) of the *Federal Courts Rules*, SOR/98-106, the originating document to begin this process is a notice of appeal. In the present appeals, both Appellants submitted notices of appeal in accordance with the *Federal Court Rules* in April 2019.
- [55] Subsection 16(4) tasks the designated judge with determining "whether the decision [of the Minister pursuant to section 15] is reasonable on the basis of the information available to the judge" and requires that this determination be done "without delay." If the decision is deemed unreasonable, subsection 16(5) allows the judge to order that an appellant's name be removed from the list. These subsections are key in defining the nature of the appeal under the SATA. Indeed, they set the standard applicable for the designated judge's review, do not limit the evidence before the judge to the evidence that was before the Minister, and allocate powers to the judge to make an immediate decision concerning the removal of an individual from the SATA list.
- [56] To frame the appeal, subsection 16(6) of the SATA sets out numerous procedural provisions:

16 (1) ...

Procedure

- **(6)** The following provisions apply to appeals under this section:
 - (a) at any time during a proceeding, the judge must, on the request of the Minister, hear information or other evidence in the absence of the public and of the appellant and their counsel if, in the judge's opinion, its disclosure could be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person;
 - **(b)** the judge must ensure the confidentiality of information and other evidence provided by the Minister if, in the judge's opinion, its disclosure would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person;
 - **(c)** throughout the proceeding, the judge must ensure that the appellant is provided with a summary of information and other evidence that enables them to be reasonably informed of the Minister's case but that does not include anything that, in the judge's opinion, would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person if disclosed:
 - **(d)** the judge must provide the appellant and the Minister with an opportunity to be heard;
 - **(e)** the judge may receive into evidence anything that, in the judge's opinion, is reliable and appropriate, even if it is inadmissible in a court of law, and may base a decision on that evidence;
 - (f) the judge may base a decision on information or other evidence even if a summary

of that information or other evidence has not been provided to the appellant;

- **(g)** if the judge determines that information or other evidence provided by the Minister is not relevant or if the Minister withdraws the information or evidence, the judge must not base a decision on that information or other evidence and must return it to the Minister; and
- **(h)** the judge must ensure the confidentiality of all information or other evidence that the Minister withdraws.
- [57] Finally, section 17 of the SATA confirms that section 16 of the SATA applies to any further appeal of the decision, with necessary modifications.
- An analysis of the SATA in its entirety reveals key measures in furthering the SATA's objective of protecting Canada's national security interests and the safety of Canadians in relation to air travel. Those key measures include the provisions, regulations, and practices relating to the listing of individuals, the prohibitions regarding disclosure of information, the strategic sharing of information with select partners, and the issuing and application of directions to deny transportation or to screen individuals. However, a simple reading of these measures, together with the actual methods in place, shows that the named individual is not involved in the SATA procedures until transportation is denied, if at all. Therefore, a holistic reading of the SATA suggests that this legislative scheme relies on the administrative recourse provisions at section 15 and the appeal provisions at section 16 to balance the SATA's objective of protecting national security interests with that of ensuring the protection of individual rights and freedoms. Because the administrative recourse provision at section 15 offers no explicit guarantee of disclosure, and a limited opportunity to make written submissions, a heavy burden is placed on the appeal mechanism in section 16 of the SATA to give effect to the balance sought by the statute.
- [59] Given the designated judge's broad discretion under section 16 of the SATA, they have an important responsibility to ensure the confidentiality of all sensitive information (paragraph 16(6)(b)) as well as to ensure that the appellant is provided with summaries of sensitive information, where possible, so that they may be reasonably informed of the Minister's case and be provided an opportunity to be heard (paragraphs 16(6)(c) and 16(6)(d)). This is a demanding function that requires a refined approach, especially since this is the first opportunity throughout the entire SATA process for the appellant to "be heard." It is a delicate task for the designated judge who must ensure the protection of information relating to national security while simultaneously disclosing what can be released and, if possible, to such a point as to allow the appellant to know enough to meet the case and give guidance to counsel and the *Amici*.
- [60] What is more, the designated judge may also receive into evidence anything that is reliable and appropriate while also having the power to base their decision on information or other evidence, even if a summary of that information or other evidence is not provided to the appellant (paragraphs 16(6)(e) and 16(6)(f)). Given the possibility that the designated judge may have to rely on information or evidence that cannot be disclosed to the appellant, even in summary form, and thus cannot be directly challenged by the appellant, the designated judge must ensure that their decision is based on facts and law in an independent and impartial manner. This judicial task was determined to have been achieved in both appeals, as can be seen in the section entitled "Findings resulting from the appeal proceedings" at page 53 in both Reasonableness Decisions (Brar 2022 and Dulai 2022).

- V. Constitutional questions—Section 6 of the Charter: Mobility rights [Table of Contents]
- [61] The Appellant (Mr. Dulai) has submitted the following constitutional questions:

Do sections 8 and 9(1)(a) of the SATA infringe on the Appellant's mobility rights pursuant to section 6 of the Charter?

If so, can this infringement be justified under section 1 of the Charter?

- A. Summary of the submissions of the Appellants and Respondent [Table of Contents]
 - (1) Submissions of Mr. Brar
- [62] Mr. Brar did not make any specific submissions in relation to section 6 of the Charter. Having said that, the Appellant describes in his affidavit the consequences that his listing on the no-fly list has had on his life, his family and his work.
 - (2) Submissions of Mr. Dulai [Table of Contents]
- [63] Mr. Dulai presented his succinct submissions related to section 6 of the Charter in a document dated March 21, 2022, as well as during oral submissions at the public hearings. He submits that his section 6 mobility rights have been violated by the Minister's decision to deny him the ability to fly domestically. He cannot easily leave or move about the country because of his placement on the no-fly list. He submits that his mobility rights have clearly been restricted.
- [64] Mr. Dulai states that subsection 6(2) of the Charter was intended to protect the right of a citizen to move about the country, to reside where they wish, and pursue their livelihood without regard to provincial boundaries. From this perspective, a citizen need not be completely cut off from a particular livelihood to make out a section 6 violation. He submits that a violation is established if the person is sufficiently disadvantaged in the pursuit of that livelihood. Therefore, "to pursue the gaining of a livelihood" under paragraph 6(2)(b) should be construed to mean the right to practice on a viable economic basis.
- [65] Mr. Dulai advances the argument that boarding an aircraft is a privilege and not a right, but that by virtue of Canada's size, its geographic location and segments that are inaccessible except by air, a purposive approach to the interpretation of mobility rights would recognize that it is impracticable to travel through and outside of Canada without boarding an aircraft.
- [66] Mr. Dulai is of the opinion that if the Court agrees with his submission that there are no reasonable grounds to suspect that he will fly by air to commit a terrorism offence, then maintaining his name on the SATA list unjustifiably limits his section 6 mobility rights. Even without that finding, he claims that the Minister's decision to ban his travelling by air within Canada limits his section 6 mobility rights in a manner that cannot be demonstrably justified under section 1 of the Charter. This is because of the Court's finding, and the Minister's admission, that there is no evidence that he poses a threat to transportation security. In these circumstances, the prohibition on Mr. Dulai flying domestically cannot be demonstrably justified as a reasonable limit under section 1 of the Charter.
- [67] Moreover, Mr. Dulai submits that the restriction on his ability to fly domestically is a significant limit on his capacity to pursue a livelihood in provinces outside of British

Columbia, more specifically managing and maintaining his television studios in Calgary, Winnipeg, Edmonton, and Brampton. He attempted to maintain the studios by driving from Vancouver to Toronto three times, but each journey was expensive, long, and impractical. Mr. Dulai also runs a joint venture called Yellow Car Rental located near Pearson International Airport in Toronto with a branch outside of Vancouver International Airport. He has not been able to expand the operations of the business because of his inability to fly domestically.

- [68] Given the Minister's admission that Mr. Dulai does not pose a threat to air transportation security, the Appellant argues that the ban on flying domestically is not rationally connected to the objective of protecting Canada's national security or preventing him from flying to engage in terrorism-related activity. He maintains that there is no evidence to suggest that he will fly somewhere in Canada to commit a terrorism offence; rather, the Minister's decision refers to foreign travel. In these circumstances, there is no rational connection between the ban on domestic travel and the objectives of the SATA. As can be read, Mr. Dulai is challenging the constitutional validity of section 8 and subsection 9(1) because he alleges that the listing of his name on the no-fly list breach his mobility rights.
- [69] Mr. Dulai describes in his affidavit the consequences that his listing on the no-fly list has had on his life, his family and his work.
 - (3) Submissions of the Respondent [Table of Contents]
- [70] The Minister (Respondent) presented his written submissions in a memorandum of fact and law dated April 11, 2022. In the document, the Minister requests an order that these appeals be dismissed and that both Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai's names be maintained on the SATA list. The Minister argues that the SATA proceedings are procedurally fair and consistent with sections 6 and 7 of the Charter and that the recourse decision is reasonable and justified on the evidence and the law.
- [71] With respect to the section 6 argument, the Minister mentions that "to the extent Mr. Dulai is prevented from entering a province via a particular mode of transportation, this is not an infringement of s. 6(2)(b) of the Charter" and that "while subsection 6(1) of the Charter protects against government action that, in purpose or effect, restricts the ability of Canadian citizens to enter, remain in or leave Canada, it does not protect a right to a particular mode of transportation or the right to travel for leisure or business." The Minister also submits that:
 - ... the recourse decision in Mr. Dulai's case reflected a careful assessment and weighing of the evidence where the Minister's delegate determined that there are reasonable grounds to suspect that Mr. Dulai will travel by air to commit certain terrorism offences. The decision reflects a proportionate balance of the significant national security objectives at stake and any limit on Mr. Dulai's s. 6 mobility rights.

(Respondent's memorandum of fact and law, at pages 26–30)

- [72] Arguments on section 7 are addressed later in this decision.
- VI. The Oakes or the Doré approach [Table of Contents]
- [73] I have explained that no deference was to be given to the Minister's delegate. To that end, I have assumed an active role throughout the confidential and public

proceedings to contribute to the fairness process in accordance with the S.C.C.'s directives in both *Charkaoui I*, and *Harkat*.

- [74] The SATA offers an appeal mechanism rather than a conventional judicial review. Additionally, and as provided for by the SATA, I have received new evidence that was not before the decision maker. My responsibility as a judge was to determine whether or not it was reasonable to place each Appellant on the no-fly list.
- [75] In his notice of appeal as well as his notice of constitutional questions, Mr. Dulai contests the constitutional validity of section 8 and subsection 9(1) of the SATA on the basis that they unjustifiably limit his section 6 Charter rights. In Mr. Dulai's written and oral submissions on section 6 of the Charter, it was not clear whether his position remained that the legislation itself was unconstitutional and not justified pursuant to section 1 of the Charter, or whether it was the state action that led to a breach of his section 6 rights which was not justified pursuant to section 1 of the Charter. The Minister's counsel submitted that Mr. Dulai was effectively contesting the Minister's decision and that as a result, this argument should be analyzed through the Doré v. Barreau du Québec, 2012 SCC 12, [2012] 1 S.C.R. 395 (Doré) framework. Given the preceding paragraphs and the fact that the constitutional validity of the legislation is contested in notices of appeal and constitutional questions, I will proceed with an analysis pursuant to the R. v. Oakes, [1986] 1 S.C.R. 103, (1986), 26 D.L.R. (4th) 200 (Oakes) framework examining both the validity of the legislation and the impact of state action. As a last comment on this matter, I must note that even though each Appellant specifically raised sections 6 and 7 of the Charter issues in their administrative submissions, the Minister's delegate remained silent in both of the decisions that are the subject matters of these appeals.
- VII. Analysis: Section 6 of the Charter [Table of Contents]
 - A. Legislation
- [76] Before proceeding with the analysis of Mr. Dulai's section 6 arguments, it is worth looking at the relevant constitutional and legislative provisions:
 - (1) Section 6 of the Charter [Table of Contents]

Mobility of citizens

6 (1) Every citizen of Canada has the right to enter, remain in and leave Canada.

Rights to move and gain livelihood

- (2) Every citizen of Canada and every person who has the status of a permanent resident of Canada has the right
 - (a) to move to and take up residence in any province; and
 - **(b)** to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province.

Limitation

- (3) The rights specified in subsection (2) are subject to
 - (a) any laws or practices of general application in force in a province other than those that discriminate among persons primarily on the basis of province of present or previous residence; and

(b) any laws providing for reasonable residency requirements as a qualification for the receipt of publicly provided social services.

Affirmative action programs

- (4) Subsections (2) and (3) do not preclude any law, program or activity that has as its object the amelioration in a province of conditions of individuals in that province who are socially or economically disadvantaged if the rate of employment in that province is below the rate of employment in Canada.
 - (2) Section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA [Table of Contents]

List

- **8 (1)** The Minister may establish a list on which is placed the surname, first name and middle names, any alias, the date of birth and the gender of any person, and any other information that is prescribed by regulation that serves to identify the person, if the Minister has reasonable grounds to suspect that the person will
 - (a) engage or attempt to engage in an act that would threaten transportation security; or
 - (b) travel by air for the purpose of committing an act or omission that
 - (i) is an offence under section 83.18, 83.19 or 83.2 of the Criminal Code or an offence referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition *terrorism offence* in section 2 of that Act, or
 - (ii) if it were committed in Canada, would constitute an offence referred to in subparagraph (i).

Review of list

(2) The Minister must review the list every 90 days to determine whether the grounds for which each person's name was added to the list under subsection (1) still exist and whether the person's name should remain on the list. The review does not affect the validity of the list.

Amendment of list

- (3) The Minister may at any time amend the list
 - (a) by deleting the name of a person and all information relating to them if the grounds for which their name was added to the list no longer exist; or
 - **(b)** by changing the information relating to a listed person.

Exemption from Statutory Instruments Act

(4) The list is exempt from the application of the Statutory Instruments Act.

Directions

- **9 (1)** The Minister may direct an air carrier to take a specific, reasonable and necessary action to prevent a listed person from engaging in any act set out in subsection 8(1) and may make directions respecting, in particular,
 - (a) the denial of transportation to a person; or
- [77] To conduct a conclusive analysis, one must be aware of and understand not just the applicable legal requirements listed above, but also the SATA's dual purpose:

- 1) Give the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness [Minister] the power to identify and respond to persons who may engage in an act that poses a threat to transportation security or who may travel by air for the purpose of committing a terrorism offence; and
- 2) Ensure that these individuals can rely on both an administrative review with an opportunity to make representations, and on an appeal mechanism that allows them to be heard while ensuring that national security information is protected.
- [78] Since this concept is essential, I will mention it again. It is important to establish a careful balance between the rights and freedoms of individuals while at the same time protecting national security information, and the safety of Canadians when travelling by air is fundamental (see *Brar 2020*, at paragraphs 60–67).
 - B. The intricacies of the current appeals [Table of Contents]
- [79] The Appellants are barred from travelling by air, both domestically and internationally (see revised appeal books, at page 27 (*Brar*) and at page 30 (*Dulai*)). They can still depart Canada, however, via other modes of transportation and travel within Canada by car, bus, or train. The rationale for the air travel ban is the Minister's conclusion that there are reasonable grounds to suspect that the Appellants will travel internationally by air to commit terrorism offences.
 - C. The meaning of mobility [Table of Contents]
- [80] The term "mobility" is not defined in the Charter. However, under section 6, every citizen has the right to enter, remain in, and leave the country. In addition, every citizen and permanent resident has the right to move to and live in any province as well as the right to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province. Subsection 6(1) of the Charter is concerned with international movement and subsection 6(2) is concerned with movement within Canada to take up residence or to pursue the gaining of a livelihood.
- [81] Nonetheless, it is not evident from a plain reading of section 6 whether mobility rights may encompass specific means to give them effect, or in other words, specific modes of transportation used to carry out these movements. Indeed, given Canada's geography and location on the world map, it is reasonable to expect that certain movements allowing residents to reach their destination will be made by air.
- [82] Canadian jurisprudence on mobility rights reveals that courts have thus far understood mobility in absolute terms, meaning that the concept of mobility only extended to one variable, that of movement. Below are cases that may be useful in understanding where courts stand on section 6 of the Charter and mobility rights in different situations:
 - Extradition—United States of America v. Cotroni; United States of America v. El Zein, [1989] 1 S.C.R. 1469, (1989), 48 C.C.C. (3d) 193 (Cotroni),
 Sriskandarajah v. United States of America, 2012 SCC 70, [2012] 3 S.C.R. 609;
 - The right to a passport—R. v. Nikal, [1996] 1 S.C.R. 1013, (1996), 133 D.L.R. (4th) 658, Khadr v. Canada (Attorney General), 2006 FC 727, [2007] 2 F.C.R. 218, Kamel v. Canada (Attorney General), 2008 FC 338, [2009] 1 F.C.R. 59, the International Transfer of Offenders Act, S.C. 2004, c. 21 (ITOA), Divito v. Canada (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2013 SCC 47, [2013] 3 S.C.R. 157 (Divito);

- The right to interprovincial mobility—Law Society of Upper Canada v. Skapinker, [1984] 1 S.C.R. 357, (1984), 9 D.L.R. (4th) 161 (Skapinker), Black v. Law Society of Alberta, [1989] 1 S.C.R. 591, (1989), 58 D.L.R. (4th) 317 (Black);
- The right to move to and take up residence in any province—Skapinker, and
- The right to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province—Black, Canadian Egg Marketing Agency v. Richardson, [1998] 3 S.C.R. 157, (1998), 166 D.L.R. (4th) 1.

In these cases, the courts looked at individuals' situations from a spatial perspective to determine whether their movements were restricted.

- [83] Since the scope of section 6 of the Charter encompasses movements within Canada as well as the possibility to leave and enter the country, it is conceivable that the framers of the Charter had in mind that mobility could be given effect through different modes of transportation. While air travel and railroad transit were both common at the time of the Charter's inception, flying has since become significantly more accessible and prevalent.
- [84] The world's geopolitical and security contexts have changed dramatically since the adoption of the Charter, especially vis-à-vis the focus given to the fight against terrorism in the aftermath of the terrorist attacks of September 2001. As a result, our understanding of mobility rights, as envisioned in the early 1980s, ought to evolve and adapt while remaining true to the drafters' original objectives ("The Living Tree Doctrine", Peter W. Hogg, *Constitutional Law of Canada*, Vol. 2, 5th ed. (Scarborough, Ont.: Thomson/Carswell, 2007), at section 36.8(a)).
- [85] While the concept of movement is significant in Mr. Dulai's appeal, the central issue revolves around the manner in which movement, or travel, is undertaken. Given that a particular mode of transportation is being prohibited, this Court is compelled to consider mobility from a novel perspective. As far as this Court is aware, this is a first in Canada, as tribunals have, until now, only assessed mobility from a "migration" perspective, often overlooking the means by which it is carried out. In contemporary Canadian society, mobility may no longer always constitute a one-dimensional notion that singularly defines movements within and outside the country; part of the equation may have to involve the way by which these movements are given effect.
- [86] In these appeals, the Appellants may travel however they wish, except by air. Although travel is not completely eliminated, this restriction has impacted their mobility. This Court has to gauge the degree to which the denial of air transportation infringes on a fundamental right, whether it is justified, and if so, whether this infringement can be minimized. For example, it could be possible for an individual on the no-fly list to travel domestically but not internationally, or to travel by air if they undergo increased security measures and are escorted by a security officer. Indeed, these options appear in the "recommended directions" published by the Department of Public Safety Canada and could be issued in accordance with subsection 9(1) of the SATA (see revised appeal book in *Dulai*, at pages 36, 53, 64, 84, 275 and 348). These types of directions may enable the Department to authorize a listed individual to travel by plane. Discretionary conditions may be tailored to the listed individual, thus limiting the SATA's impact on mobility rights.

- [87] Given the above, a comprehensive understanding of freedom of movement is required, as air transportation security regulations might result in denial of air transportation in some instances while allowing it in others, hence influencing freedom of movement to varying degrees.
- [88] Having framed the legislation at play, described the perpetual challenge of balancing national security concerns and individual rights and freedoms, outlined the evolving view on mobility rights, now is the time to consider the jurisprudential concepts that go into interpreting the Charter in light of mobility rights.
 - (1) Interpreting the Charter [Table of Contents]
 - (a) Purposive analysis and jurisprudential guidance on mobility rights [Table of Contents]
- [89] The very basis of Charter interpretation is purposive analysis. This calls for a generous and liberal interpretation where the meaning of a right must be defined in light of the interests it is supposed to defend. When dealing with section 6 of the Charter, Justice Dickson (as he then was) said in *Black* [at page 593] that:

A purposive approach to the *Charter* dictates a broad approach to mobility. Section 6(2) protects the right of a citizen (and of a permanent resident) to move about the country, to reside where he or she wishes and to pursue his or her livelihood without regard to provincial boundaries. The provinces may regulate these rights but, subject to ss. 1 and 6 of the *Charter*, cannot do so in terms of provincial boundaries. That would derogate from the inherent rights of the citizen to be treated equally in his or her capacity as a citizen throughout Canada. This approach is consistent with the rights traditionally attributed to the citizen and with the language of the *Charter*.

[90] The Charter recognizes the right to leave the country as well as the right to return ("enter"). In *Cotroni*, Justice Wilson (dissenting, but not on this issue) had the following to say regarding subsection 6(1) [at pages 1504–1505]:

Applying these guidelines [Big M Drug Mart], it is my view that s. 6(1) of the Charter was designed to protect a Canadian citizen's freedom of movement in and out of the country according to his own choice. He may come and go as he pleases. He may elect to remain. Although only Canadian citizens can take advantage of s. 6(1) the right protected is not that of Canadian citizenship. Rather, the right protected focuses on the liberty of a Canadian citizen to choose of his own volition whether he would like to enter, remain in or leave Canada. Support for this interpretation is found in the language of the other subsections of s. 6 and in the heading of s. 6 "Mobility Rights".

[91] It is important to differentiate between the two sets of rights encompassed in the Charter, at subsections 6(1) and 6(2). To this effect, Justice Abella wrote, in *Divito* [at paragraph 17]:

There are therefore two sets of mobility rights. The first set, found in s. 6(1), is the right of every Canadian citizen to enter, remain in, and leave Canada. The second set, outlined in s. 6(2) to (4), gives citizens and permanent residents the right to move to, live in, and work in any province subject to certain limitations.

Considering this, the right to enter, remain, and leave Canada provides for international mobility for every Canadian citizen and a national mobility for Canadian citizen and permanent resident. On the other hand, the right to remain in Canada and establish residence is also protected under paragraph 6(2)(a) of the Charter. In the present

cases, the matter relating to establishing residence in a province is not at issue but paragraph 6(2)(b), "to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province" is relevant.

(b) Section 6 mobility rights are not subject to the notwithstanding clause [Table of Contents]

[92] It is worth noting that section 6 rights, like certain other Charter rights such as the right to vote protected by section 3, are excluded from the application of section 33 of the Charter. Such an exclusion indicates the special importance given to these rights by the framers of the Charter. Indeed, as explained in *Frank v. Canada (Attorney General)*, 2019 SCC 1, [2019] 1 S.C.R. 3, in the context of the right to vote, "any intrusions on this core democratic right are to be reviewed on the basis of a stringent justification standard" (at paragraph 25). The significance of rights not being subject to section 33 was reiterated in *Conseil scolaire francophone de la Colombie-Britannique v. British Columbia*, 2020 SCC 13, [2020] 1 S.C.R. 678 [at paragraph 148]:

Second, s. 23 is not subject to the notwithstanding clause in s. 33 of the Charter. The decision in this regard reflects the importance attached to this right by the framers of the Charter as well as their intention that intrusions on it be strictly circumscribed. In *Frank v. Canada (Attorney General)*, 2019 SCC 1, [2019] 1 S.C.R. 3, which concerned the right to vote of Canadians residing abroad, I reiterated McLachlin C.J.'s statement in *Sauvé v. Canada (Chief Electoral Officer)*, 2002 SCC 68, [2002] 3 S.C.R. 519, that the framers had signalled the special importance of that right by excluding it from the scope of the notwithstanding clause. I added that, because of this exemption, any intrusions on the right are to be reviewed on the basis of a stringent justification standard (*Frank*, at para. 25; *Sauvé*, at paras. 11 and 14). This also applies in the context of s. 23.

- (c) The interpretative language [Table of Contents]
- [93] Language is an important medium of communication, especially in a country like Canada where bilingualism is one of our core values of inclusiveness and diversity. Linguistics can be particularly valuable in law when wanting to convey meaning and nuances. Depending on the language in which a particular statute or legislation is referred to, it can be understood differently. These differences demand the most indepth consideration to appreciate the legislation's objective. This is the case with the Charter's mobility rights under section 6.
- [94] Interestingly, subsection 6(2) benefits from a broader interpretation in the French version than in the English one: "de se déplacer dans tout le pays et d'établir leur résidence dans toute province" as opposed to "move to and take up residence in any province." In *Skapinker*, Justice Estey emphasized this difference [at page 378]:

I return to subs. (2) itself. Paragraph (a) is pure mobility. It speaks of moving to any province and of residing in any province. If (b) is caught up with (a), it is likewise a mobility provision. If it is separate when properly construed, then it may, as the respondent urges, be a "right to work" clause without reference to movement as a prerequisite or otherwise. The presence of the conjunction "and" in the English version is not sufficient, in my view, to link (a) to (b) so as to create a single right. Conversely, the absence of the conjunctive link in the French language version is not sufficient to separate the two clauses completely. In the first alternative interpretation, *supra*, if only one right is created by subs. (2), then a division into paras. (a) and (b) is superfluous. Moreover, this suggested interpretation of s. 6(2) is inconsistent with s. 6(3) which subjects the "rights specified in subsection (2)" to certain limitations. [Emphasis added in original.]

[95] Justice Estey, who was writing for the majority, therefore concluded [at pages 382–383] that:

... para. (b) of subs. (2) of s. 6 does not establish a separate and distinct right to work divorced from the mobility provisions in which it is found. The two rights (in para. (a) and in para. (b)) both relate to movement into another province, either for the taking up of residence, or to work without establishing residence. Paragraph (b), therefore, does not avail Richardson of an independent constitutional right to work as a lawyer in the province of residence so as to override the provincial legislation, the Law Society Act, s. 28(c), through s. 52 of the Constitution Act, 1982.

For these reasons, we can confidently state that even if there is no stand-alone right to work, there is still a connection between subsection 6(1) "[e]very citizen of Canada has the right to enter, remain in and leave Canada" and paragraph 6(2)(b) "to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province" —"de gagner leur vie dans toute province."

[96] This was also taken up in *Taylor v. Newfoundland and Labrador*, 2020 NLSC 125 (CanLII), a recent case about whether provincial governments have the legislative right to limit domestic travel across their borders. The alleged right at issue in this case was not the right to work or settle in Newfoundland and Labrador *per se*, but rather the right to travel to attend a family member's funeral. Because there was no case law dealing with a similar infringement of mobility rights, Justice Burrage conducted a novel analysis of these rights and their application to interprovincial travel. He concluded that "the right' to 'remain in' Canada, as embodied in s. 6(1) of the *Charter*, includes the right of Canadian citizens to travel in Canada for lawful purposes across provincial and territorial boundaries" (at paragraph 301) [emphasis in original].

[97] Justice Burrage also drew a difference between the "right to move" intended as mobility and the "right to move" intended as taking up residence. His line of reasoning on this point is reproduced below [at paragraphs 370–374]:

Rather, I interpret the language "to move to" as conjunctive with the taking up residence in any province, such that the right as defined is singular, the right to move to and take up residence.

Does such an interpretation mean that the language "to move to" is superfluous, such that s. 6(2)(a) might simply read as the right to "take up residence" in any province?

I do not think so, for the right is a <u>mobility</u> right, not a static right of residence. I am prepared to take judicial notice of the fact that from time to time Canadians change their place of residence in Canada. That said, this case does not concern what is meant by "residence", as by any reasonable interpretation Ms. Taylor did not wish to come to Newfoundland and Labrador for that purpose.

I would thus interpret the right to move to and take up residence as the right to live anywhere in Canada and to move freely about the country <u>for that purpose</u>, subject to the limitations in s. 6(3).

Viewed from this perspective s. 6(2) does not encompass the right simpliciter of Canadian citizens and permanent residents to travel across provincial and territorial boundaries. As we have seen, that right is reserved for Canadian citizens under s. 6(1) of the *Charter*. Rather, subject to the qualifications in s. 6(3) the mobility rights guaranteed by s. 6(2) are those of residency and employment. The right to move to and live anywhere in Canada and the right to earn a livelihood in any province. Such an interpretation is in keeping with the historical purpose of s. 6(2) which had as its concern the economic integration of the country (*Black*, at paras. 40 and 41). [Emphasis added in original.]

[98] Such a perspective of mobility rights demonstrates the importance of the facts underlying the issues at hand when considering mobility rights.

(d) Analysis: subsection 6(1)—international mobility rights [Table of Contents]

[100] Mr. Dulai suggests that his subsection 6(1) mobility rights have been violated by the Minister's decision to deny him the ability to fly internationally. Because Mr. Dulai's name is on the no-fly list, he is unable to travel to other countries by air. As previously indicated, in Canada, flying is currently the most popular mode of transportation to most foreign destinations, just as sailing used to be. The ability to travel by air has become an essential part of modern life. It is comparable to possessing a passport, access to which should not be interfered with lightly. To this effect, the Court of Appeal of Ontario, in *Black v. Canada (Prime Minister)* (2001), 54 O.R. (3d) 215, 199 D.L.R. (4th) 228, commented [at paragraph 54] that:

In today's world, the granting of a passport is not a favour bestowed on a citizen by the state. It is not a privilege or a luxury but a necessity. Possession of a passport offers citizens the freedom to travel and to earn a livelihood in the global economy. In Canada, the refusal to issue a passport brings into play *Charter* considerations; the guarantee of mobility under s. 6 and perhaps even the right to liberty under s. 7. In my view, the improper refusal of a passport should, as the English courts have held, be judicially reviewable.

[101] If a passport constitutes a necessity in today's world, it follows that the means of transportation to give effect to travel is as well, when alternative means available are just not reasonable, realistic and practical. Mr. Dulai cannot travel by air, which prevents him from leaving the continent by plane. Since the right to leave Canada is a component of subsection 6(1), imposing such unreasonable, unrealistic and impractical limits is an infringement on the international mobility right that has to be justified in accordance with section 1 of the Charter. Indubitably, mobility is part of the modern world and an essential component in fulfilling professional, personal, leisure, and family needs. Denying that these needs should be cherished and protected goes against basic liberties. From this perspective, the right to leave, return, and live in Canada encompassed in subsection 6(1) of the Charter are part of society's fundamental values and must be recognized as such. I therefore find that Mr. Dulai's subsection 6(1) rights have been breached.

(e) Analysis: subsections 6(2), 6(3), and 6(4)—national mobility rights for the purpose of taking up residence in any province and to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province [Table of Contents]

[102] Conversely, subsections 6(2), 6(3) and 6(4) of the Charter call for a different approach. While paragraph 6(2)(a) of the Charter (residence) is not in dispute in Mr. Dulai's appeal, paragraph 6(2)(b), the right to pursue the gaining of a livelihood in any province, requires examination in this case. The evidence establishes that until Mr. Dulai was denied boarding on May 17, 2018, air travel within Canada was important for him to earn a living. Mr. Dulai chose to live in British Columbia and is a partner in a car rental joint venture ("Yellow Car Rental") with Mr. Brar, who pioneered this type of business model near Toronto's Pearson Airport. Because of the business' success, Mr. Brar supported its extension into the British Colombian market, where Mr. Dulai became involved. Mr. Dulai is also a partner in "Channel Punjabi", a television station that broadcasts news, music series, talk shows, religious programs, and comedy, among other things. Channel Punjabi has operated studios in Vancouver, Calgary, Edmonton, and Toronto since 2015. Mr. Dulai routinely travels between provinces to tend to each studio, and travels abroad to cover various events (Parvkar Singh Dulai application for

recourse—written submissions, January 2, 2019, included in the revised appeal book, at page 163 (Dulai's submissions, revised appeal book), affidavit dated January 30, 2022, at page 4, paragraph 29).

[103] Since May 2018, however, Mr. Dulai has not been allowed to travel by plane within or outside Canada. He can still travel by car, bus, or rail, but depending on the destination, travel time is most likely to be much longer than if he were flying. Mr. Dulai submits the following in his affidavit [at paragraphs 119–126]:

Being placed on the no-fly list has had a tremendous physical, psychological, and financial effect on me.

In 2018, I was at the height of establishing a Punjabi-speaking television channel that was increasing in subscriptions each month, not just in Canada, but internationally. I was actively working to grow the studio with the aim of connecting the diaspora of Punjabi-speaking people across the world through celebrating our language and culture. I was dedicated to Channel Punjabi economically, but also because it allowed me to increase the connectedness of my community. This business venture allowed me to marry my economic activity with my philanthropic passion.

In 2016, I opened studios in Calgary and Edmonton. I had to travel from B.C. to these newly-established studios regularly. I usually travelled by plane because flying was much faster and more affordable than driving. During this time, I estimate that I travelled every four to six weeks so I could find events worth covering, work closely with each team on the ground, and promote a cohesive culture within the organization.

During 2016 to 2018, I was focused on business development. I travelled frequently to cover events across the country and internationally to increase viewership and subscriptions to the Channel. I covered Vaisakhi parades internationally. I covered sporting events, such as Kabaddi tournaments, and concerts. I was effectively looking to cover any event that was culturally significant.

In early 2018, we were in the planning stage of opening a studio in Winnipeg. We had hired one employee and we were looking [to] secure office space.

In May of 2018, after I was put on the no-fly list, the newest studios struggled the most, especially the one in Winnipeg. It was not feasible for me to drive to Winnipeg, especially in the winter. By the winter of 2018, I had to shut down the Winnipeg studio, as it was struggling and losing money.

Initially, I thought that the appeal process would conclude quickly, and I held on to the hope of being able to fly again to manage the Calgary and Edmonton studios. I drove across the country to Toronto three times to check on the studios. The drive was expensive, long, and impractical. As the appeal proceedings continued, it became financially untenable for me to keep the Calgary and Edmonton studios open. By late winter of 2019, I closed the Calgary and Edmonton studios, suffering a major financial loss, as we had purchased equipment to launch these studios. We closed the Brampton studio in the summer of 2021.

The closing of these studios harmed me both financially and psychologically. I am saddened that the vision that I had for Channel Punjabi could not be realized due to my inability to fly and tend to these studios.

[104] Though teleworking or moving to another province would offer possible limited solutions, they still create obstacles in the pursuit of a livelihood and they go against allowing Canadians and permanent residents to move freely from sea to sea, establish themselves wherever they choose, and work within Canada without being constrained by provincial boundaries.

[105] The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant impact on public transportation. Individuals and businesses have changed their ways of operating because of the necessity to maintain physical distance and adhere to public health regulations. As we slowly recover from a global health crisis, the demand for air travel is increasing, and new health measures are being implemented to keep passengers safe. In essence, there is still a need for air travel for business objectives. In *Black*, at page 620, former Chief Justice Dickson wrote:

....What section 6(2) was intended to do was to protect the right of a citizen (and by extension a permanent resident) to move about the country, to reside where he or she wishes and to pursue his or her livelihood without regard to provincial boundaries.

[106] The essence of paragraphs 6(2)(a) and 6(2)(b) is that Canadians should be treated equally insofar as they should have the freedom to live and work in the province or provinces of their choosing. Provincial boundaries are not to be used as barriers to residence or employment. As a result, a Canadian or permanent resident can work in one or more provinces without establishing residency in each. As previously said, Canada is a large country, and business travel often necessitates air transportation. For someone whose job entails activities in more than one province, the prohibition on travelling by plane can have significant impact on their capacity to work. The fact that Mr. Dulai's national mobility rights do not include air travel has clearly hampered his ability to earn a living in provinces other than his own, as demonstrated by the evidence (see Mr. Dulai's affidavit dated January 30, 2022, at pages 15–16).

[107] I believe that travelling to and out of Canada as well as within Canada for personal or business purposes is not a privilege, but rather a necessity in today's world for Canadian citizens. Given that his name is on the no-fly list, the Appellant, a Canadian citizen, is unable to travel in a reasonable, realistic and practical manner in and out of Canada, or domestically for professional or personal reasons. He is unable to travel by air within the country to tend to his business, despite the fact that the right to seek a living in any province is a constitutional right under paragraph 6(2)(b) of the Charter. Air travel is necessary for international travel, but it is equally necessary for domestic travel in a country as large as Canada. Flying has also become crucial for many Canadians in today's working environment, and denying the Appellant this option limits his ability to work. As a result, I find that Mr. Dulai's paragraph 6(2)(b) rights have been breached.

[108] Given that I have found breaches of Mr. Dulai's rights, I will now examine whether section 1 of the Charter can justify these violations.

- (2) Analysis: Section 1 of the Charter [Table of Contents]
 - (a) General

[109] Section 1 of the Charter reads as follows:

Rights and freedoms in Canada

1 The Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms guarantees the rights and freedoms set out in it subject only to such reasonable limits prescribed by law as can be demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society.

[110] The two key components of section 1 of the Charter are that it guarantees rights and freedoms subject only to (1) reasonable limits prescribed by law, and (2) as long as

it can be demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society. Chief Justice Dickson details these functions in *Oakes* [at pages 135–136]:

It is important to observe at the outset that s. 1 has two functions: first, it constitutionally guarantees the rights and freedoms set out in the provisions which follow; and, second, it states explicitly the exclusive justificatory criteria (outside of s. 33 of the *Constitution Act*, 1982) against which limitations on those rights and freedoms must be measured. Accordingly, any s. 1 inquiry must be premised on an understanding that the impugned limit violates constitutional rights and freedoms—rights and freedoms which are part of the supreme law of Canada. As Wilson J. stated in *Singh v. Minister of Employment and Immigration*, *supra*, at p. 218: "... it is important to remember that the courts are conducting this inquiry in light of a commitment to uphold the rights and freedoms set out in the other sections of the *Charter*."

[111] No right is absolute. Imposing a limit on mobility rights may be justified in appropriate circumstances, such as a reasonable method of addressing national security concerns. Section 1 creates a balance between individual rights and social interests by allowing limits on fundamental rights and freedoms, as stated in *Canada (Attorney General) v. JTI-Macdonald Corp.*, 2007 SCC 30, [2007] 2 S.C.R. 610 [at paragraph 36]:

.... Most modern constitutions recognize that rights are not absolute and can be limited if this is necessary to achieve an important objective and if the limit is appropriately tailored, or proportionate.

[112] That being said, the application of section 1 still needs to be guided by specific values and principles, as outlined in *Oakes* [at page 136]:

.... The Court must be guided by the values and principles essential to a free and democratic society which I believe embody, to name but a few, respect for the inherent dignity of the human person, commitment to social justice and equality, accommodation of a wide variety of beliefs, respect for cultural and group identity, and faith in social and political institutions which enhance the participation of individuals and groups in society.

[113] Once a violation has been identified, as it was for both international and national mobility rights in this case, the burden of proof is on the Minister to justify the limits, and the applicable standard of proof is the civil balance of probabilities standard:

Like the House of Lords, I think it is time to say, once and for all in Canada, that there is only one civil standard of proof at common law and that is proof on a balance of probabilities. Of course, context is all important and a judge should not be unmindful, where appropriate, of inherent probabilities or improbabilities or the seriousness of the allegations or consequences. However, these considerations do not change the standard of proof. I am of the respectful opinion that the alternatives I have listed above should be rejected for the reasons that follow.

(F.H. v. McDougall, 2008 SCC 53, [2008] 3 S.C.R. 41 [at paragraph 40])

[114] In order to demonstrably support the justification for the limits, the Minister may present an evidentiary record related to the limits imposed that are both logical and well reasoned. Justices Sopinka, McLachlin and Major expanded on this idea in *RJR-Macdonald v. Canada (Attorney General)*, [1995] 3 S.C.R. 199, (1995), 127 D.L.R. (4th) 1 [at pages 204–205]:

.... The appropriate test in a s. 1 analysis is that found in s. 1 itself: whether the infringement is reasonable and demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society. No conflict exists between the words of s. 1 and the jurisprudence founded upon *Oakes*. The

word "demonstrably" in s. 1 is critical: the process is neither one of mere intuition nor of deference to Parliament's choice. While remaining sensitive to the social and political context of the impugned law and allowing for difficulties of proof inherent in that context, the courts must nevertheless insist that, before the state can override constitutional rights, there be a reasoned demonstration of the good which the law may achieve in relation to the seriousness of the infringement.

[115] The burden of proof first requires that the Minister show that the infringements or limits on the mobility rights are "prescribed by law" in that it is either express or implied in a statute or a regulation. Former Chief Justice McLachlin clarified this point in *R. v. Orbanski; R. v. Elias*, 2005 SCC 37, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 3 [at paragraph 36]:

It is settled law that a prescribed limit may be implied from the operating requirements of a statute. In *Therens*, Le Dain J. described the meaning of the words "prescribed by law" as follows (at p. 645):

Section 1 requires that the limit be prescribed by law, that it be reasonable, and that it be demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society. The requirement that the limit be prescribed by law is chiefly concerned with the distinction between a limit imposed by law and one that is arbitrary. The limit will be prescribed by law within the meaning of s. 1 if it is expressly provided for by statute or regulation, or results by necessary implication from the terms of a statute or regulation or from its operating requirements. The limit may also result from the application of a common law rule. [Emphasis added in original.]

[116] If the limits on a Charter rights are "prescribed by law", the analysis continues by examining the following questions:

- 1. Is the purpose of the law or the infringing state action sufficiently pressing and substantial to justify curtailing a Charter right?
- 2. Is there proportionality between the object of the legislation or the state action and the means to achieve it? Proportionality is understood as having three components:
 - (i) Rational connection to the objective;
 - (ii) Minimal impairment of the right; and
 - (iii) Proportionality between the effects of the measure and the objective.

[117] To conduct this analysis, I will be direct and factual, basing my answers exclusively on publicly accessible facts. First, it is worth noting that the SATA's objective is obvious, clear and transparent, and its effects on appellants can be weighty, as mentioned several times in this decision.

- (i) Is the infringement prescribed by law? [Table of Contents]
- [118] The SATA's provisions limiting the Appellant's section 6 rights are well-defined, explicit, and legally binding. Section 8 provides for listing an individual on the no-fly list and section 9 for ministerial directions to an air carrier to prevent a listed person from travelling by air to commit a terrorism offence. Indeed, I do not understand Mr. Dulai to be arguing that the Minister did not have the statutory authority to issue the section 9 directions.

- [119] The limits imposed on Mr. Dulai are the result of evidence-based suspicions that he could fly abroad in order to plot a terrorist attack. Canadians expect their Government to provide a safe environment where they can live their lives without worrying about terrorist acts. They trust that their Government will do everything in its power to prevent such acts, whether at home or abroad.
- [120] As noted in the *National Security Act, 2017* preamble, the Government must enact laws that protect national security and intelligence activities in a way that respects rights and freedoms and encourage the international community to do the same. Protecting national security is a pressing and substantial objective.
- [121] Furthermore, Canada's interests in preserving global security were always founded on a commitment to multilateralism and the concept of a rules-based international order. In this regard, Canada was an important architect of multilateral organizations and an essential voice for the liberal international order at the end of World War II, participating in the establishment of the United Nations, NATO [North Atlantic Treaty Organization], and the Bretton Woods institutions. In addition to these international institutions, different alliances and multilateral engagements have all provided valuable and friendly fora in which to discuss and, at times, devise a collective response to national security concerns. As an illustration, Canada is a member of prominent security groups such as the North American Aerospace Defense Command (NORAD), NATO and the Five Eyes security alliance, all of them promoting collaboration and information sharing between allies. By virtue of its participation in these alliances and treaties, Canada is deeply invested in countering global and domestic terrorist threats, addressing international arms control and the proliferation of weapons (The Proliferation Security Initiative), promoting and protecting a free, open and secure cyberspace and fighting illegal drug trade, human smuggling, money laundering (Financial Action Task Force), and other activities of international organized crime.
- [122] In this light, Canada's efforts to ensure the safety of air travel for all Canadians and passengers is a pressing legislative goal of the SATA and part of a larger thrust to promote security beyond national borders, as required by Canada's role on the international stage.
- [123] Against this background, it goes without saying that ensuring air safety for Canadians and providing a fair process to allow listed individuals to make representations and/or appeal a decision is an objective of the SATA that is clearly expressed, pressing, and substantial. Similarly, the Minister's decision to give effect to this objective is pressing and substantial.
 - (iii) Is there proportionality between the legislative objective and the means to achieve it? [Table of Contents]
- [124] The proportionality concept refers to whether the Government has selected proportional or relative methods to achieve its legislative goals. To put it another way, the Government must devise acceptable methods for enacting or implementing its legislative goals. A restriction on a Charter right cannot be arbitrary or unrelated to the law's objective. It must be used in a way that is consistent with the facts of each case, and ensure that less impactful alternatives were examined. There must be manoeuvring room in implementing such a decision. The requirement of proportionality requires this.

[125] The SATA's purpose is to prevent terrorist offences involving air transportation in Canada or elsewhere around the world, or the facilitation of such offences through air transportation in Canada or abroad. Other countries such as Australia, the European community (through the *Schengen* Information System, or "SIS"), India, Pakistan, the United Kingdom and the United States each have their own system designed to deter terrorist threats linked to air travel. However, processes vary significantly among nations. For example, while Australia does not have an analogous system to the Canadian SATA list, its authorities can still remove a person from an area or an aircraft when suspected of committing or having committed an offence as per its *Transport Security Amendment (Serious Crime) Act 2021*, No. 44 (2021) (Austl.).

[126] To be listed in Canada, a person must first be identified. The person's information is subsequently sent to the PPAG who then recommends to the Minister or his representative whether the individual should be listed or not (see *Brar 2020*, at paragraphs 72–76). The list is reviewed every 90 days. A person may be delisted as a result of a periodical review where information can be added and updated or following to an administrative review or an appeal as provided by the legislation.

[127] Depending on a recommendation of the PPAG and a decision of the Minister, a listed individual may still be able to travel, albeit under certain conditions such as additional screening, the presence of a security officer on board, constraints regarding international and/or domestic flights and other in-flight options. For example, a person may not be able to travel internationally but may do so domestically.

[128] The SATA strives to protect air transportation against terrorist attacks, and one method of doing so is to impose restrictions on mobility rights where there is an evidentiary basis for doing so. Such restrictions can be applied in many different ways, as outlined above. Therefore, there is a causal link between the goal of air transportation safety, terrorist attacks, and the restrictions that can be enforced that flow from the SATA. As a result, the provisions of the law that lead to limiting an individual's movements are rationally connected to the law's purpose. This was conceded in part in Mr. Dulai's submissions where he mentioned that "[a]lthough the aim and means of the SATA are reasonable and demonstrably justified, the direction of the Minister in this case is not minimally impairing" (revised appeal book in Dulai, at page 179). Similarly, given my finding in the Reasonableness Decisions, the state action limiting his mobility rights is rationally connected to the law's objective.

(c) Does the law or state action minimally impair the infringed right? [Table of Contents]

[129] A law or government action that infringes Charter rights can be justified as long as the right at stake is impaired as little as possible. In other words, if the Government can achieve its legislative objective in a way that involves a lesser impairment of a right, it must do so. In the case at issue, the SATA scheme infringes Mr. Dulai's national mobility rights because his listing combined with ministerial directions prevent him from using air transportation within Canada for the purpose of his work, and limit his international mobility rights because it would be unreasonable, unrealistic and impractical for him to travel to most other countries by means other than air transport.

- [130] As long as an individual is suspected of posing a threat to Canadian air travel, the decision to bar them from using air transportation to travel domestically can be justified. This is also true if the person is presumed to be using Canadian air transportation to travel to an international destination in order to commit a terrorist act in violation of Canadian law (see subparagraphs 8(1)(b)(i) and (ii) of the SATA). In that case, the safety objective of the SATA is causally linked to the violation of the national mobility right and as such, the means deployed to achieve this goal can vary.
- [131] For these reasons, I believe that the SATA obstructs mobility only to the extent that is necessary to accomplish the goal of air transport safety. Ensuring safety in air transportation and limiting air travel for terrorist purposes necessarily involves some infringement of mobility rights.
- [132] Although not raised by Mr. Dulai, it is worth pointing out that the text of the SATA itself does not limit the mobility rights. Rather, the restrictions on mobility are a result of being listed pursuant to section 8 and a combination of the *Secure Air Travel Regulations* [SOR/2015-181] and ministerial directions issued pursuant to subsection 9(1) of the SATA. That being said, the SATA scheme is not a blunt instrument; the scheme provides discretion to the Minister to adapt restrictions to the particular circumstances of individuals. Indeed, the Minister has enumerated a list of "recommended directions" that can be made with respect to listed persons (see revised appeal book in Dulai, at pages 36, 53, 64, 84, 275 and 348). As a result, the scheme allows for the impairment of an individual's rights to be commensurate to the threat posed by that individual, thus minimally impairing the right.
- [133] Similarly to what I noted above, given my finding in the Reasonableness Decisions, I am satisfied that the state action limiting his mobility rights is, in this case, minimally impairing. Nonetheless, the SATA 90-day review of Mr. Dulai and Mr. Brar will have to take into consideration the fact that the Minister's delegate's finding concerning air transportation safety (paragraph 8(1)(a) of the SATA) is not supported by evidence and is therefore unreasonable. The Minister will have to determine whether a complete prohibition on domestic and international travel is still warranted, especially when the evidence presented in these proceedings relates to flying for the purpose of performing an act (or omission) related to a terrorist offence abroad, and not domestically.
 - (3) Do the positive effects of the law or state action outweigh the negative effects of the legislation or state action? [Table of Contents]
- [134] Courts must ask if the limits on the right are proportional to the importance of that law's purpose. They must also ask whether the benefits of the law are greater than any negative effects produced by a limitation on a right. In concluding the proportionality issue, do the positive effects in this specific case outweigh the negative effects that the legislation has on a listed individual?
- [135] Comprehensive and timely steps are required to ensure public safety. When a terrorist attack involving air travel occurs, it is too late to apply stronger measures. To prevent these offences from occurring in the first place, proactive measures are required. Limiting mobility rights has a positive impact because it helps to assure air transportation safety while also creating a necessary climate of trust for everyone. I am aware that limits imposed on Mr. Dulai's travel have had significant negative consequences on him and his family and I have no doubt that such restrictions are difficult to bear. The SATA scheme provides for a 90-day review of each person on the list, which can yield positive outcomes for the appellants.

- [136] When I weigh the benefits and disadvantages and draw a line between them, the safety of air transportation from terrorist attacks and Canadians' trust in air travel and their Government trump the negative consequences of the Appellant's mobility rights being infringed, whether for international travel or to earn a living domestically. I can only conclude that the overall air safety issue outweighs any negative impact on both Appellants.
 - D. Conclusion on section 6 of the Charter [Table of Contents]
- [137] The constitutional question is answered in the following way:

Do sections 8 and 9(1)(a) of the SATA infringe on the Appellant's mobility rights pursuant to section 6 of the *Charter*?

The answer is that those provisions alone do not infringe the Appellant's mobility rights, but the SATA scheme does.

Can this infringement be justified under section 1 of the Charter?

The answer is yes.

I note that had I conducted an analysis pursuant to the *Doré* framework, as suggested by the Minister's counsel, my above reasoning would apply to find that the restriction imposed on Mr. Dulai's mobility rights by the Minister's decision was reasonable.

VIII. <u>Constitutional questions</u>—<u>Section 7 of the Charter</u>—<u>Life, Liberty and Security of the Person</u> [Table of Contents]

Do sections 15 and 16 of the SATA violate the Appellants' rights to section 7 of the *Charter*, specifically their rights to liberty and security of the person, because they permit the Minister, and the Court, to determine the reasonableness of the Appellants' designation as listed persons, and the reasonableness of the Minister's decision based on information that is not disclosed to the Appellants and in relation to which they have no opportunity to respond?

The Appellants add that the violation of their section 7 rights is not justified by section 1 of the *Charter*. The question has been worded differently in both appeals but the substance remains the same.

- A. Summary of the submissions of the Appellants and Respondent [Table of Contents]
 - (1) Submissions of Mr. Brar
- [138] Mr. Brar presented his written submissions on March 21, 2022. In that document, he highlights that despite never having been convicted of an offence in Canada or elsewhere, and despite never having been accused of involvement in terrorist-related activities of any kind, on April 23, 2018, his name was added to the no-fly list and he was prohibited from travelling by air pursuant to the SATA. His listing has since been maintained causing psychological suffering, as well as negatively affecting his family and business.
- [139] Mr. Brar is of the opinion that he was never granted an opportunity to meaningfully respond to what he calls "unsourced allegations" levied against him because section 20 of the SATA prohibits identification of those who are listed and, by necessary implication, the reason for their listing. His primary position is that the information provided, in the circumstances of this case, does not meet the

incompressible minimum standard established by the S.C.C. in *Harkat* as being required to satisfy the requirements of procedural fairness and compliance with section 7 of the Charter. The failure to provide any information, even in summary form, regarding the source of the allegations against the Appellant leaves him unable to meaningfully challenge the credibility and reliability of that information.

- [140] Mr. Brar claims that while classified information was disclosed to the *Amici*, who are permitted to make *ex parte* submissions on the merits, this is of no consolation because while they have seen the redacted information, the *Amici* are unable to effectively communicate with the Appellant in order to obtain information that would allow them to challenge its reliability. Mr. Brar maintains that much of the information relied upon by the Minister must be, in accordance with *Harkat*, withdrawn, or a stay of proceedings entered. If the information is withdrawn, there remains no basis upon which the Minister's decision can be sustained. Even if the information is not withdrawn, Mr. Brar believes that the decision to place his name on the no-fly list, and to maintain his listing, is unreasonable.
- [141] Mr. Brar claims that he was not provided with the incompressible minimum of disclosure. He alleges that while the lifts or partial lifts of redactions over various pieces of information may result in better informing him of the Minister's case, the current state of disclosure fails to provide sufficient information for him to know the case to meet and the practical ability to meet that case. He explains that because the origins or sources of information found in various memoranda, case briefs, and summaries that purportedly link him to terrorist activities and financing are not disclosed, he cannot meaningfully rebut the Minister's case and directly dispute the reliability of the information against him. Mr. Brar believes that this lack of information has fatally compromised his ability to meaningfully contest the reliability of the information relied upon by the Minister and fails to provide him with the practical ability to contest the "reasonable suspicion" the Minister claims in order to maintain the SATA listing.
- [142] Mr. Brar states that he was not provided with any information to support the reliability of the conclusory statements that apparently implicate him in terrorist activities. He relies on a passage from *Harkat*, at paragraph 57 to affirm that the right to know the case to meet encompasses the right to "know the essence of the information and evidence supporting the allegations." Mr. Brar is of the opinion that he knows nothing about the evidence supporting the allegations against him and maintains that the information emanating from unknown sources appears to be the lynchpin of the Minister's case. He states that this is demonstrated by the following portions of the December 2018 Ministerial memorandum, under the heading "Analysis":
 - (1) An unattributed source described the appellant as President of the ISYF's youth wing in Canada (p. 337);
 - (2) An unnamed source said that the appellant is collecting funds from members of the Sikh community to renovate Gurdwaras and diverting a major part of the funds for anti-India activities:
 - (3) An unnamed source said that the appellant was involved in collecting funds and transferring them to his father and another individual for distribution to terrorist families;
 - (4) An unnamed source claims that the appellant is closely associated with a number of Canada-based Sikh radical elements, and that the appellant had tasked Mr. Cheema to arrange to obtain arms and ammunition in India (p. 338); and

- (5) An unnamed source claims that the appellant has been planning an India-based terrorist attack with Mr. Cheema.
- [143] Mr. Brar is of the opinion that this lack of disclosure of any information as to the nature or circumstances of the unknown sources is troubling since it reduces the appeal to a form of stalemate where the Appellant denies involvement with terrorist organizations and the Minister says, based on an unknown source, that he is involved. With this complete lack of detail, Mr. Brar is not in a position to reasonably challenge these assertions, which are central to the Minister's case.
- [144] Mr. Brar states that he does not know the nature of the sources said to implicate him in terrorist activities and he is concerned with the frailties of relying on international intelligence agencies or confidential informant information. He believes that factors crucial in assessing the reliability of a confidential source of information cannot be assessed when the identity of the source is unknown. He asserts that the unknown sources of information are completely devoid of predictive information and there is no indication that the source or sources have been "sufficiently corroborated".
- [145] Mr. Brar submits that the "large amount of additional evidence on the reliability and credibility" relied upon by the CSIS witness in the case briefs raises further problems because none of this "additional information was provided to the decision maker and some of it was unknown to the Court prior to the witnesses' testimony." More importantly, Mr. Brar maintains that he was not provided with any of this additional information, not even in summary form. All he is left with is evidence that CSIS holds the subjective belief that the information implicating him is credible and reliable. Without disclosure as to why CSIS considers the information credible and reliable, Mr. Brar argues that he is unable to meaningfully contest or rebut that belief.
- [146] In all these circumstances, Mr. Brar maintains that he was not provided with the incompressible minimum disclosure and as a result, he has not been reasonably informed of the case against him. He submits that this has resulted in a violation of his constitutional right to a fair process under section 7 of the Charter and requests that this Court allow the appeal and remove his name from the SATA list.
- [147] Mr. Brar submitted an amended notice of constitutional question on January 31, 2022, in which he states that paragraph 8(1)(b) of the SATA (further) violates section 7 of the Charter because it is overbroad. However, he did not provide any arguments in support of this position in his submissions, and informed this Court at the public hearings in Vancouver on April 21, 2022, that he was not pursuing the amended constitutional question relating to section 7 (overbreadth) nor section 6 (mobility rights) of the Charter. As a result, the issue of overbreadth is not addressed in this decision and that of mobility was only considered in Mr. Dulai's case.
 - (2) Submissions of Mr. Dulai [Table of Contents]
- [148] Mr. Dulai submits that the SATA proceedings have failed to meet the minimum standards of procedural fairness. He alleges that the Minister's delegate violated his procedural fairness rights during the administrative recourse process by failing to give him adequate notice of the case to meet before requiring his response, and by failing to provide reasons for his decision to maintain his name on the no-fly list.
- [149] Mr. Dulai affirms that nothing in the unclassified summary gave him any insight into whether he had been listed pursuant to paragraph 8(1)(a) or paragraph 8(1)(b) of

the SATA. Indeed, the Minister failed to particularize whether he suspected that he would engage in an act that threatened transportation security (paragraph 8(1)(a)) or whether he would travel by air for the purpose of committing a terrorism-related offence (paragraph 8(1)(b)) until the appeal process was well underway. As a result, Mr. Dulai is of the opinion that the Minister's failure to particularize which prong of section 8 of the SATA he was relying on, until directed to do so by this Court, breached his right to notice of the allegations against him and he seeks a declaration from the Court to this effect.

- [150] Mr. Dulai also submits that the Minister committed a further breach of his procedural fairness rights by failing to provide reasons for his decision to deny his application for recourse and maintain his name on the SATA list. He claims that the one-page letter signed by the Minister's delegate was devoid of both the "what" and the "why" required to satisfy his right to reasons for the Minister's decision under section 15 of the SATA. This argument is addressed in the *Dulai* Reasonableness Decision, at paragraph 95 and under the section entitled "The SATA needs improvement", at page 63. Furthermore, the Minister's reasoning process and the information he considered to reach his decision remain unclear even with the expanded disclosure provided after Mr. Dulai filed his appeal.
- [151] Mr. Dulai seeks a declaration that upon receipt of an application for recourse, the Minister must provide a listed person with notice of the basis for the person's listing—i.e., whether the listing is under paragraph 8(1)(a) or 8(1)(b), or both—in addition to a copy of all unclassified information relied upon by the Minister to list the person. Mr. Dulai also solicits a declaration that the Minister must provide the listed person with written reasons on an application for recourse that explain the decision and the rationale behind it. These arguments are also addressed in the *Dulai* Reasonableness Decision under the section entitled "The SATA needs improvement", at page 63.
- [152] Similarly to Mr. Brar, Mr. Dulai submits that due to national security concerns, he was not given the incompressible minimum amount of disclosure necessary for him to know and meet the Minister's case. He states that the evidence and allegations at the heart of the Minister's decision have been almost entirely withheld from him. He notes that most of the information in the unclassified summary that was relied upon to justify his placement on the no-fly list comes from open source material. Moreover, the PPIO memorandum that forms the reasons for the Minister's decision to maintain his name on the no-fly list replicates the CSIS brief and unclassified summary and summarizes the information that he provided himself. The redacted portions are either not summarized at all, or summarized with general statements.
- [153] Mr. Dulai also refers to other information in the appeal book, such as Ms. Soper's affidavits that he claims provide no information about the evidence against him. He submits that affidavits of other government officials also do not provide him with any information capable of assisting him in being informed of the case against him.
- [154] As for the Public Communications issued from the Court, Mr. Dulai says he has received summaries generally describing what was discussed in the *ex parte* and *in camera* proceedings but not the nature, credibility, or reliability of the redacted information related to him.
- [155] Mr. Dulai is of the opinion that the disclosure provided does not elevate the allegations against him from general to specific and does not allow him to know the essence of the information and evidence said to support those allegations. As a result,

he is unable to give meaningful instructions to his counsel about what information and evidence to adduce in his defence. He is also unable to know what evidence or guidance to give the *Amici* that would allow them to rebut the redacted information in a meaningful way. Mr. Dulai states that fairness requires that he be informed of the grounds for the Minister's rejection of his evidence regarding the serious allegations against him, but that the redactions make this impossible. For these reasons, he requests that the Minister withdraw the information that cannot be disclosed. Failing that, Mr. Dulai submits that the proceedings will remain unfair and violate natural justice and his rights under section 7 of the Charter.

[156] Mr. Dulai claims that there has not been a substantial substitute for the receipt of his full disclosure or full participation in his appeal. He submits that the failure of Parliament to include a provision permitting the appointment of special advocates violates section 7 of the Charter, as the inherent limits of the *Amici*'s mandate have unfairly restricted their ability to advocate for Mr. Dulai in the closed proceedings. In his view, given the insufficient disclosure, he has not been able to provide meaningful guidance and information to the *Amici*.

[157] Mr. Dulai additionally submits that the unavailability of special advocates in the SATA proceedings renders the regime unconstitutional under section 7 because it fails to provide the listed person with a substantial substitute for full disclosure and full participation in the appeal. He adds that the SATA permits the Government to label Canadian citizens as terrorists and restrict their rights and freedoms based on the reasonable suspicion standard (lower than the reasonable grounds required under the IRPA) that can be based on evidence that the listed person never gets to see. Moreover, the Government gets the opportunity to convince the designated judge that this secret evidence is trustworthy and accurate in hearings the listed person is not privy to.

[158] Because of the reasons enumerated above, Mr. Dulai seeks a declaration from this Court that the SATA is unconstitutional to the extent that it deprives the designated judge of the ability to appoint special advocates, and an order that the *Amici* be permitted to act as special advocates for the remainder of the proceedings.

[159] In his notice of appeal dated April 18, 2019, Mr. Dulai also argued that the Minister's decision to designate him as a listed person, and thereafter maintain that designation upon administrative review, violated and disproportionately impacted his rights under paragraphs 2(a), 2(b) and 2(d) as well as section 15 of the Charter. However, Mr. Dulai did not cite any matter connected to sections 2 and 15 of the Charter when he submitted his notice of constitutional question with this Court on April 25, 2019, and he did not do so during the public hearings in April 2022. As a result, this ruling does not address issues related to sections 2 and 15 of the Charter.

(3) Submissions of the Respondent [Table of Contents]

[160] Although both Appellants filed a notice of constitutional question, the Minister states that their submissions do not argue that the provisions of the SATA scheme are unconstitutional. The Minister argues that the focus of their argument is that the conduct of the recourse and appeal proceedings applicable to their SATA listing violated their section 7 Charter rights. Where administrative action under a piece of legislation is the cause of a right infringement, it is clear that the action should be challenged, not the legislation. The Respondent submits that the appropriate focus is the particular conduct in the Appellants' cases, not the scheme itself.

- [161] The Minister alleges that in Mr. Dulai's appeal, the only declaration he seeks is that the SATA violates section 7 of the Charter to the extent that it does not permit the appointment of a special advocate. The Minister, however, does not believe that section 7 is engaged in either of the two cases.
- [162] In Mr. Brar's case, the Minister submits that the right to security of the person does not protect an individual from the ordinary stresses and anxieties that a person of reasonable sensibility would suffer because of Government action. The Minister states that Mr. Brar has failed to disclose or provide details of any specific psychological effects, which he describes as disturbing and profound. His claim does not share commonality with the circumstances in *Charkaoui I* where the concern was the "irreparable harm" [at paragraph 14] an individual subject to a security certificate would face because of deportation from Canada.
- [163] As for Mr. Dulai, the Minister argues that the description of psychological impact in his affidavit does not rise to the level of "a serious and profound effect on the psychological integrity." The "extreme embarrassment and distress" he describes do not share commonality with the circumstances in *Charkaoui I*.
- [164] Should the Court find that Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai's section 7 rights are engaged, the Minister still believes that the Appellants have failed to satisfy the second part of the section 7 test because the SATA proceedings are conducted in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice. The Minister refers to *Harkat* in the security certificate context to support his argument, stating that the principles of fundamental justice include two interrelated aspects of the right to a fair process: (1) the right to know and meet the case; and (2) the right to have a decision made by the judge on the facts and the law. The Minister points out that the assessment of whether a process is fair must take into account the legitimate need to protect information and evidence that is critical to national security.
- [165] The Court stated in *Ruby v. Canada (Solicitor General)*, 2002 SCC 75, [2002] 4 S.C.R. 3 that "in such circumstances, fairness is met through other procedural safeguards such as subsequent disclosure, judicial review and rights of appeal" (at paragraph 40). The Minister states that procedural fairness requires sufficient, not perfect, disclosure of the case to meet. It does not require the disclosure of all information considered by the decision maker. For this reason, the Minister believes there was no breach of procedural fairness in the recourse proceedings and that the unclassified summaries were sufficient to permit both Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai to participate meaningfully in the recourse process. For example, in response to the disclosure of the unclassified summary, Mr. Dulai provided detailed submissions dated January 2, 2019, with supporting documents. He was able to address each allegation in the unclassified summary specifically.
- [166] The Minister states that Mr. Dulai's request for a declaration that the Minister must provide written reasons on a recourse application is also inappropriate under the SATA scheme. The Minister's delegate provided notice of the decision, which included some of the rationale. Mr. Dulai's complaint is in essence about the adequacy of the reasons. The Minister submits that, as held by the S.C.C. in *Newfoundland and Labrador Nurses' Union v. Newfoundland and Labrador (Treasury Board)*, 2011 SCC 62, [2011] 3 S.C.R. 708, at paragraphs 21 and 22, (in)adequacy of reasons does not amount to a breach of procedural fairness, but is considered a factor when assessing the reasonableness of the decision maker's reasoning.

- [167] According to the Minister, if the Court determines that procedural fairness required reasons in the recourse decision, and that the decision dated January 30, 2019, was lacking, then the reasons requirement was met by the PPIO's memorandum to the Minister's delegate. The S.C.C. has recognized that the requirement to provide written reasons for a decision can be fulfilled by accepting the use of the notes of the subordinate reviewing officer as part of the flexibility that is necessary when the courts balance the requirements of the duty of fairness with the recognition of the day-to-day realities of administrative agencies, and the many ways principles of procedural fairness can be upheld (see *Baker v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration)*, [1999] 2 S.C.R. 817, (1999), 174 D.L.R. (4th) 193, at paragraph 44). This matter was dealt with in the two Reasonableness Decisions under the section entitled "*The scope of the public evidence resulting from the appeal proceedings*" (see *Brar 2022*, at page 39 [at paragraph 99] and *Dulai 2022*, at page 37 [at paragraph 95].
- [168] The Minister argues that there is no breach of the duty of fairness to provide reasons in the absence of any request for written reasons. Mr. Dulai did not submit any evidence that he made such a request for reasons before he filed his notice of appeal.
- [169] The Minister submits that the appeal proceedings provide an incompressible minimum disclosure and that the Appellants have received sufficient disclosure to be reasonably informed of the case against them, and to give instructions to their counsel. Procedural fairness requires sufficient, not perfect, disclosure of the case to meet. It does not require the disclosure of all information considered by the decision maker.
- [170] The Minister argues that Mr. Brar has had a meaningful opportunity to participate in the process through the involvement of the *Amici* in the *ex parte* and *in camera* proceedings. Mr. Brar was also able to make submissions on preliminary legal issues, file evidence through his affidavit (108 pages), make written representations on the substantive merits of the appeal (43 pages), conduct examination and cross-examination of the Respondent's affiants, and make oral submissions at the public hearings.
- [171] The Minister believes that based on all of the information disclosed to Mr. Dulai in these proceedings, Mr. Dulai has received sufficient disclosure to be reasonably informed of the case against him, and to give instructions to his counsel. He has had a meaningful opportunity to participate through the involvement of the *Amici* in the *ex parte* and *in camera* proceedings, in addition to making submissions on preliminary legal issues, filing evidence through his affidavit (471 pages), making written representations on the substantive merits of the appeal (91 pages), conducting examination and cross-examination of the Respondent's affiants, and making oral submissions at the public hearings. In fact, in response to the release of the unclassified summary, Mr. Dulai was able to offer thorough responses (January 2, 2019) with supporting documents addressing each allegation.
- [172] The Minister is convinced that the appeal proceedings have been conducted in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice.
- [173] The Minister states that in its determination of the preliminary legal issues, the Court established that the SATA's appeal mechanism requires the designated judge to play the essential role of protecting Canada's national security interests and ensuring a fair judicial process. Consistent with this duty, the Court appointed two *Amici* to provide a substantial substitute for the full disclosure and participation of the Appellants. While

the *Amici* did not have a mandate to act as counsel for Mr. Dulai and Mr. Brar, they were required to represent the interests of the Appellants.

- [174] The Minister believes that contrary to Mr. Dulai's argument, the appointment and mandate of the *Amici* in these proceedings ensured procedural fairness to both Appellants and assisted the Court in performing its statutory obligations under the SATA. In *Charkaoui I* and *Harkat*, the S.C.C. did not dictate that special advocates were the only substantial substitutes in the context of national security cases. As noted by the Court in these proceedings, the appointment of *Amici* in national security proceedings is well established. The Court regularly resorts to them in designated proceedings to ensure a full and fair hearing of issues when those issues cannot be addressed publicly.
- IX. Analysis: section 7 of the Charter [Table of Contents]
 - A. Legislation
 - (1) Section 7 of the Charter [Table of Contents]

Life, Liberty and security of person

7 Everyone has the right to life, liberty and security of the person and the right not to be deprived thereof except in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice.

(2) Sections 15 and 16 of the SATA [Table of Contents]

Application to Minister

15 (1) A listed person who has been denied transportation as a result of a direction made under section 9 may, within 60 days after the day on which they are denied transportation, apply in writing to the Minister to have their name removed from the list.

Exceptional circumstances

(2) If the Minister is satisfied that there are exceptional circumstances that warrant it, the Minister may extend the time limit set out in subsection (1).

Representations

(3) The Minister must afford the applicant a reasonable opportunity to make representations.

Application to Minister

(4) On receipt of the application, the Minister must decide whether there are still reasonable grounds to maintain the applicant's name on the list.

Notice of decision to applicant

(5) The Minister must give notice without delay to the applicant of any decision made in respect of the application.

Deemed decision

(6) If the Minister does not make a decision in respect of the application within a period of 120 days after the day on which the application is received — or within a further period of 120 days, if the Minister does not have sufficient information to make a decision and he or she notifies the applicant of the extension within the first 120-day period — the Minister is deemed to have decided to remove the applicant's name from the list.

Appeals

Decisions under this Act

16 (1) This section applies in respect of any appeal of any direction made under section 9 and any decision made under section 8 or 15 by the Minister.

Application

(2) A listed person who has been denied transportation as a result of a direction made under section 9 may appeal a decision referred to in section 15 to a judge within 60 days after the day on which the notice of the decision referred to in subsection 15(5) is received.

Extension

(3) Despite subsection (2), a person may appeal within any further time that a judge may, before or after the end of those 60 days, fix or allow.

Determination

(4) If an appeal is made, the judge must, without delay, determine whether the decision is reasonable on the basis of the information available to the judge.

Removal from list

(5) If the judge finds that a decision made under section 15 is unreasonable, the judge may order that the appellant's name be removed from the list.

Procedure

- **(6)** The following provisions apply to appeals under this section:
 - (a) at any time during a proceeding, the judge must, on the request of the Minister, hear information or other evidence in the absence of the public and of the appellant and their counsel if, in the judge's opinion, its disclosure could be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person;
 - **(b)** the judge must ensure the confidentiality of information and other evidence provided by the Minister if, in the judge's opinion, its disclosure would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person;
 - **(c)** throughout the proceeding, the judge must ensure that the appellant is provided with a summary of information and other evidence that enables them to be reasonably informed of the Minister's case but that does not include anything that, in the judge's opinion, would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person if disclosed;
 - **(d)** the judge must provide the appellant and the Minister with an opportunity to be heard;
 - **(e)** the judge may receive into evidence anything that, in the judge's opinion, is reliable and appropriate, even if it is inadmissible in a court of law, and may base a decision on that evidence:
 - **(f)** the judge may base a decision on information or other evidence even if a summary of that information or other evidence has not been provided to the appellant;
 - **(g)** if the judge determines that information or other evidence provided by the Minister is not relevant or if the Minister withdraws the information or evidence, the judge must not base a decision on that information or other evidence and must return it to the Minister; and
 - (h) the judge must ensure the confidentiality of all information or other evidence that

the Minister withdraws.

Definition of judge

- (7) In this section, *judge* means the Chief Justice of the Federal Court or a judge of that Court designated by the Chief Justice.
- B. Jurisprudential teachings on section 7 analysis involving national security issues [Table of Contents]
- [175] Section 7 of the Charter guarantees the right to life, liberty and security of the person and contains a built-in safeguard for those rights, stating that they can only be encroached upon in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice. These rights apply to all people within Canada, not only to Canadian citizens. In order to trigger a section 1 analysis, the Appellants must show that:
 - There has been or could be an infringement to the right to life, liberty and security of the Appellants, and
 - ii. The infringement is not in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice.
- [176] If both elements are proven, the Minister then has the burden to show that the infringement was subject to reasonable limits prescribed by law as can be demonstrably justified in a free and democratic society under section 1 of the Charter (see *Charkaoui I*, at paragraph 12).
- [177] In *Harkat*, referring to *Charkaoui I*, the S.C.C. stresses that "[l]aws that interfere with these interests must conform to the principles of fundamental justice. If they fail to do so, they breach s. 7 of the *Charter* and fall to be justified under s. 1 of the *Charter*" (at paragraph 40).
- [178] As explained by the S.C.C., the principles of fundamental justice are,
 - ... the basic principles that underlie our notions of justice and fair process. These principles include a guarantee of procedural fairness, having regard to the circumstances and consequences of the intrusion on life, liberty or security

(Charkaoui I, at paragraph 19).

[179] Section 7 is not concerned with whether a limit imposed on a Charter right is justified; that analysis is undertaken under section 1. Rather, section 7 is concerned with whether the limit has been implemented in a way that is consistent with natural justice principles. Both *Charkaoui I* and *Harkat* expand on this notion:

Unlike s. 1, s. 7 is not concerned with whether a limit on life, liberty or security of the person is justified, but with whether the limit has been imposed in a way that respects the principles of fundamental justice. Hence, it has been held that s. 7 does not permit "a free-standing inquiry ... into whether a particular legislative measure 'strikes the right balance' between individual and societal interests in general" (*Malmo-Levine*, at para. 96). Nor is "achieving the right balance ... itself an overarching principle of fundamental justice" (*ibid.*). As the majority in *Malmo-Levine* noted, to hold otherwise "would entirely collapse the s. 1 inquiry into s. 7" (*ibid.*). This in turn would relieve the state from its burden of justifying intrusive measures, and require the *Charter* complainant to show that the measures are not justified.

(Charkaoui I [at paragraph 21]).

Full disclosure of information and evidence to the named person may be impossible. However, the basic requirements of procedural justice must be met "in an alternative fashion appropriate to the context, having regard to the government's objective and the interests of the person affected": *Charkaoui I*, at para. 63. The alternative proceedings must constitute a substantial substitute to full disclosure. Procedural fairness does not require a perfect process — there is necessarily some give and take inherent in fashioning a process that accommodates national security concerns: *Ruby v. Canada (Solicitor General)*, 2002 SCC 75, [2002] 4 S.C.R. 3, at para. 46.

(Harkat [at paragraph 43]).

[180] My task is to identify the limits, if any, imposed on section 7 rights by the SATA to persons on the list, evaluate the seriousness of these limits and assess whether or not the SATA offers a procedure that is fair, keeping in mind the particular circumstances and the consequences of the intrusion on life, liberty or security.

C. The necessity to abide by the principles of fundamental justice [Table of Contents]

[181] In *Toronto Star Newspapers Ltd. v. Ontario*, 2005 SCC 41, [2005] 2 S.C.R. 188, a decision dealing with freedom of expression, Justice Fish commented on the importance of justice being exercised in public in order for decisions to be understood and complied with: "[i]n any constitutional climate, the administration of justice thrives on exposure to light — and withers under a cloud of secrecy" (at paragraph 1). In that same decision, he recognized the need to adjust this "exposure to light" in certain exceptional cases [at paragraph 3]:

The freedoms I have mentioned, though fundamental, are by no means absolute. Under certain conditions, public access to confidential or sensitive information related to court proceedings will endanger and not protect the integrity of our system of justice. A temporary shield will in some cases suffice; in others, permanent protection is warranted.

[182] In the two current appeals, some information must remain concealed from the Appellants and the public to protect Canada's national security and intelligence. In this context, this Court must use a contextual approach to respect principles of natural justice, especially when dealing with concepts that create a tension, as it is the case with national security and individual rights. In *Charkaoui v. Canada (Citizenship and Immigration)*, 2008 SCC 38, [2008] 2 S.C.R. 326 (*Charkaoui II*), Justices Lebel and Fish stressed the importance of procedural fairness in cases where rights protected by section 7 of the Charter are concerned [at paragraphs 56–57]:

In *La* (at para. 20), this Court confirmed that the duty to disclose is included in the rights protected by s. 7. Similarly, in *Ruby v. Canada (Solicitor General)*, [2002] 4 S.C.R. 3, 2002 SCC 75, at paras. 39-40, the Court stressed the importance of adopting a contextual approach in assessing the rules of natural justice and the degree of procedural fairness to which an individual is entitled. In our view, the issuance of a certificate and the consequences thereof, such as detention, demand great respect for the named person's right to procedural fairness. In this context, procedural fairness includes a procedure for verifying the evidence adduced against him or her. It also includes the disclosure of the evidence to the named person, in a manner and within limits that are consistent with legitimate public safety interests.

Suresh v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration), [20020 1 S.C.R. 3, 2002 SCC 1, at para. 113, concerned the nature of the right to procedural fairness in a context where a person had been deprived of rights protected by s. 7 of the *Charter*. This Court emphasized the importance of being sensitive to the context of each situation:

[D]eciding what procedural protections must be provided involves consideration of

the following factors: (1) the nature of the decision made and the procedures followed in making it, that is, "the closeness of the administrative process to the judicial process"; (2) the role of the particular decision within the statutory scheme; (3) the importance of the decision to the individual affected; (4) the legitimate expectations of the person challenging the decision where undertakings were made concerning the procedure to be followed; and (5) the choice of procedure made by the agency itself [para. 115]

- [183] In essence, analyzing a situation through section 7 of the Charter does not require a specific or perfect process but one that is fair and takes the nature of the proceedings and the interests at stake into consideration, as discussed in *Charkaoui I*, at paragraphs 19 and 20, and in *Harkat*, at paragraph 43. The right to full knowledge of the case is not absolute and some give and take is unavoidable in designing a process that addresses national security issues.
- [184] Summarily, the question before this Court is whether being listed on the no-fly list and restriction on air travel is attenuated by the SATA's administrative review and appeal mechanism that provide appellants with a process that takes into account the imperative of protecting national security information. Answering this question will be indicative of whether the two Appellants were afforded a process that meets the principles of fundamental justice which requires that:
 - (1) There is a fair hearing;
 - (2) The hearing is presided by an independent, impartial magistrate who decides on the facts and the law;
 - (3) The Appellants have a right to know the case made against them; and
 - (4) The Appellants have a right to answer that case in such a way as to give counsel knowledgeable instructions (see *Harkat*, at paragraphs 41–43).

[185] In the following paragraphs, I will discuss all of those matters keeping in mind the process followed in both *Charkaoui I* and *Harkat*.

(1) Is section 7 of the Charter engaged? [Table of Contents]

[186] When a Canadian citizen or permanent resident becomes informed that they cannot fly due to their named status, and are incidentally suspected of posing a threat to air travel because of their ties to terrorist activities, their right to security, as understood under section 7 of the Charter, is curtailed for the following reasons.

[187] Having a named status does not project a positive image and may hamper a person's life. For example, the dissemination of the SATA list to all air carriers that fly into, out of, and within Canada, and consequently being denied boarding, can jeopardize the listed person's reputation and security. When a listed person files an administrative review or an appeal, their identity becomes public and the publicity that emerges as the case progresses inevitably connects them to air safety and terrorism. This has a negative influence on the listed person's reputation and can trigger security issues for them and their family. In the current appeals, media outlets produced articles disclosing the names and personal details of the Appellants, making them publicly known (see revised appeal books, at pages 341–342 (*Brar*) and at pages 323–324 (*Dulai*)). This negative publicity has seriously impacted the lives of both Appellants and their families.

[188] The Appellants' section 7 Charter rights have been impacted in that being publicly associated with being a terrorist or related to terrorist activities can only contribute to a "direct loss of psychological integrity", a recognized section 7 interest (see *Sogi v. Canada (Minister of Citizenship and Immigration)*, 2003 FC 1429, [2004] 2 F.C.R. 427, at paragraphs 52–54). As Justice MacKay noted, such "psychological distress caused to him by the state's action of detaining him [not the case here] and labelling him a terrorist deprives him of the right to security of the person protected by section 7 [of the Charter]." Furthermore, the S.C.C. said in *Charkaoui I* that accusing someone of being a terrorist can cause "irreparable harm to the individual" (at paragraph 14).

[189] There is no question that the lives of the Appellants have been affected as a result of being associated with terrorism and terrorist activities (see *Brar* affidavit, at paragraphs 62–64 and *Dulai* affidavit, at paragraphs 119–133). The Respondent minimizes the consequences on the respective lives of the Appellants as described therein by arguing that simply being labelled as associated with terrorist activities is not sufficient to engage section 7. I do not agree. To be labelled a terrorist in Canada or around the world is extremely damaging to one's reputation and living with such a cloud over one's head can only be psychologically harmful and difficult to live with. Contrary to the Minister's submissions, a psychological report is not essential to capture this. I am satisfied that the Appellants' section 7 Charter security of the person right is adversely affected.

[190] Notwithstanding what has been said, the Appellants' specific circumstances need to be taken into consideration. In the two cases at issue, the impact of the SATA on the Appellants' section 7 rights is not the same as if they had been jailed, released with strict conditions, or facing deportation to oppressive countries (as was the case in the certificate proceedings pursuant to the IRPA in *Charkaoui I* and *Harkat*). The restriction on air transportation, the psychological distress caused by being listed on the no-fly list, and the information being publicly revealed has had an impact on their daily security, and the hardship they are experiencing is real; however, it is not as severe as it would be for a named person in a certificate proceeding. As a result, section 7 rights, particularly "security of the person," have been compromised, though to a lesser degree than in *Harkat*.

[191] The question I need to answer is whether the process in place is such that the limits on section 7 rights comply with the principles of fundamental justice, or not. In order to fully understand the process in place, it is important to review the role of the designated judge in SATA appeals. Such a role, as evidenced in the reasons published in *Brar 2020*, at paragraphs 89–127, is analogous to the one of the designated judge in the IRPA certificate processes. Former Chief Justice McLachlin spoke openly and enthusiastically about the designated judge position in both *Charkaoui I* (at paragraphs 32–64) and *Harkat* (at paragraph 46). As previously stated, such a function was intended to be a crucial component in guaranteeing procedural fairness in certificate processes. It is also important to examine the *Amici*'s role and mandate. Finally, the SATA appeal procedure must be looked at to see if the right to a fair hearing is provided for.

(2) The role of the designated judge [Table of Contents]

[192] The designated judge presiding the SATA appeal has a gatekeeper role to play (*Brar 2020*, at paragraphs 89–139). The S.C.C. identified and developed this role in

Charkaoui I and Harkat. As discussed in the Brar 2020 reasons, the IRPA certificate and the SATA proceedings are comparable and in both pieces of legislation, the role of the designated judge is identical. Therefore, the role assigned to the designated judge by the S.C.C. in the IRPA is one that is relevant to the designated judge in the SATA. In the Brar 2020 decision, I explained that the role of the designated judge in the IRPA extended to the SATA when ex parte and in camera hearings were held (at paragraphs 95 and 100). The S.C.C. commented on this concept in both Charkaoui I and Harkat, and Justice Mosley made mention of it in X (Re), 2017 FC 136, [2017] 4 F.C.R. 391, at paragraphs 31–32 in the context of privilege claims pursuant to section 18.1 of the Canadian Security Intelligence Service Act, R.S.C., 1985, c. C-23:

The designated judge plays an expanded gatekeeper role in national security matters because he or she bears wider responsibilities, due to the confidential and closed nature of the proceedings. Both the jurisprudence and the legislation establish the responsibilities of the designated judge, notably the Supreme Court's *Harkat* decision in 2014 and the IRPA. The Supreme Court provided a useful synopsis of these responsibilities at paragraph 46 of *Harkat* 2014: [Citation omitted.]

Given that the designated judge's duties, as elaborated above, stem from an overriding responsibility to ensure fairness and the proper administration of justice, such duties are not limited to security certificate proceedings. The distinction between the responsibilities of the designated judge, *amici curiae*, and special advocates extends beyond certificate proceedings and applies to all relevant situations in the field of national security where confidential information and CSIS human source issues can arise. ...

[193] In *Charkaoui I*, the S.C.C. noted that the designated judge is "the only person capable of providing the essential judicial component of the process" (at paragraph 34) and must assume an "active role" (at paragraph 39), and the designated judge must not be a "rubber stamp" (at paragraph 41) but must instead be "non-deferential" (at paragraph 42). This function is critical in ensuring that a judge's independence and impartiality are not jeopardized by appearing unduly subservient to the Government's stance (at paragraphs 39–42). As such, the active interventionist role and the heightened ability to skeptically scrutinize and vet evidence certifies that the designated judge is able to make decisions based on the facts and the law (at paragraphs 48–52).

[194] This active interventionist role assigned to designated judges remained important even with the involvement of the special advocate in *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings. In *Harkat*, where the special advocate role was found to be a substantial substitute to ensure procedural fairness, former Chief Justice McLachlin, on behalf of the Court, commented on the role of the designated judge [at paragraph 46]:

First, the designated judge is intended to play a gatekeeper role. The judge is vested with broad discretion and must ensure not only that the record supports the reasonableness of the ministers' finding of inadmissibility, but also that the overall process is fair: "... in a special advocate system, an unusual burden will continue to fall on judges to respond to the absence of the named person by pressing the government side more vigorously than might otherwise be the case" (C. Forcese and L. Waldman, "Seeking Justice in an Unfair Process: Lessons from Canada, the United Kingdom, and New Zealand on the Use of 'Special Advocates' in National Security Proceedings" (2007) (online), at p. 60). Indeed, the *IRPA* scheme expressly requires the judge to take into account "considerations of fairness and natural justice" when conducting the proceedings: s. 83(1)(a), *IRPA*. The designated judge must take an interventionist approach, while stopping short of assuming an inquisitorial role.

[195] Even with the involvement of a special advocate, the S.C.C. considers that the designated judge still has a duty to ensure fair proceedings. They must do so while also

protecting national security and ensuring the safety of any person, even to the point of declaring a violation of the right to a fair trial when necessary: "If [the discretion and flexibility to fashion a fair process] is impossible, judges must not hesitate to find a breach of the right to a fair process and to grant whatever remedies are appropriate, including a stay of proceedings" (*Harkat*, at paragraph 4).

[196] In my capacity as a gatekeeper, and in accordance with my responsibilities to maintain fairness in the process, I appointed two *Amici* to ensure they could adequately represent the two Appellants' individual interests. Because the SATA lacks the participation of a special advocate as required in the IRPA, I revised the *Amici*'s initial mandate after the *Brar 2020* ruling. In doing so I reconsidered the *Charkaoui I* decision in which the S.C.C., in order to ensure the principles of natural justice would be respected, contemplated possible options for substantial substitutes. For instance, former Chief Justice McLachlin made reference, in *Charkaoui I*, to the Arar Commission, drawing attention to the use of special counsel to assist with intelligence and national security matters [at paragraph 79]:

The Arar Inquiry provides another example of the use of special counsel in Canada. The Commission had to examine confidential information related to the investigation of terrorism plots while preserving Mr. Arar's and the public's interest in disclosure. The Commission was governed by the CEA. To help assess claims for confidentiality, the Commissioner was assisted by independent security-cleared legal counsel with a background in security and intelligence, whose role was to act as *amicus curiae* on confidentiality applications. The scheme's aim was to ensure that only information that was rightly subject to national security confidentiality was kept from public view. There is no indication that these procedures increased the risk of disclosure of protected information.

[197] The process to amend the *Amici*'s mandate went beyond a review of the jurisprudence. I also canvassed the Hansards at the time the SATA legislation was under review. Following that, I noted that the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness and his officials responded to the lack of a special advocate in the SATA appeal procedure by stating that the presiding judge may appoint an *amicus curiae* if the situation justified it:

Senate -Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defense - May 28, 2015

John Davies, Director General, National Security Policy, National and Cyber Security Branch, Public Safety Canada: ...

.... Yes, and it's the judge's discretion to appoint an amicus if the judge feels it's important for the case and due process in the case. There's a big distinction in the immigration setting between the rights and needs of someone who faces detention, deportation and potentially further mistreatment, versus the access to a passport or, in a similar case, the ability to board a plane under the Passenger Protect Program. There's a different series of rights invoked here.

Ritu Banerjee, Director, Operational Policy and Review, Public Safety Canada: ...

.... The minister has an obligation to provide all the information. That's part of procedural fairness and natural justice obligations.

On the second point, the judge can always seek an *amicus curiae* instead of a special advocate.

Senate - Standing Senate Committee on National Security and Defense - April 10, 2019

...

Mr. Goodale: It's my understanding that if a judge in those circumstances feels that the help of some kind of amicus would be appropriate, the judge can require that. I believe that is in existing law.

It would really fall to the presiding justice to determine whether or not the assistance of a special advocate or some other friend of the court would be necessary in order to ensure that the proceeding was, in fact, fair to those who are before the judge.

...

Doug Breithaupt, Director and General Counsel, Criminal Law Policy Section Department of Justice Canada: ...

Just to confirm that the Federal Court has the ability to appoint an amicus curiae or friend of the court to assist in such proceedings if the Federal Court judge considered that such an appointment is warranted. That's the kind of decisions that they make.

[198] The *Amici*'s mandate, as revised and amended in July 2020, went as far as representing the interests of the Appellants during *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings. I also made sure that solicitor-client privilege would shield all of their communications with the Appellants. This amended mandate also required the *Amici* to assume the role of cross-examiner, which they dutifully fulfilled, at times triggering objections from the Attorney General's counsel. From my experience in two certificate proceedings, presiding over several *ex parte* and *in camera* proceedings, some involving *amici*, and assuming my role as gatekeeper and trustee for ensuring fairness, an adversarial atmosphere during the *ex parte* and *in camera* sessions ensured impartiality and fairness in the proceedings, exactly as I had intended.

(3) The role and mandate of the *Amici* [Table of Contents]

[199] In this section, I will look at whether the *Amici*'s roles and mandates in the cases at bar are a meaningful substitute to ensure compliance with principles of natural justice.

[200] The basic principles of natural justice require a hearing presided over by an impartial, independent judge who will deliver a decision based on the facts and the law, as per *Charkaoui I* (at paragraphs 32–52) and *Harkat* (at paragraph 46). They also require that enough information be disclosed to allow the Appellants to understand the case against them, respond to it, and give directions to their counsel. As mentioned earlier, this is precisely the approach adopted by the S.C.C. when it considered the constitutional validity of the IRPA certificate process in *Charkaoui I* [at paragraph 29]:

This basic principle has a number of facets. It comprises the right to a *hearing*. It requires that the hearing be *before an independent and impartial magistrate*. It demands a *decision by the magistrate on the facts and the law*. And it entails the *right to know the case put against one*, and the *right to answer that case*. Precisely how these requirements are met will vary with the context. But for s. 7 to be satisfied, each of them must be met in substance. [Italics in original.]

[201] One of the questions to be answered as I comment on each of these facets is whether the *Amici's* involvement in the appeal process is such that it is a valid substitute for ensuring that natural justice standards are fulfilled. It will also allow me to comment on disclosure and whether it is sufficient to know the case and respond to it. Overall, the opinions on each of these points will assist me in making a determination on the constitutional issue.

(4) The right to a hearing [Table of Contents]

[202] The SATA legislation mandates a 90-day automatic review of the no-fly list to evaluate whether there are still the "grounds to suspect" for the individual to remain listed. The SATA list is updated on a regular basis, with some names being added and others being removed (Lesley Soper's first affidavit dated September 12, 2019, at paragraphs 12 and 23).

[203] The SATA also allows a listed person who was denied transportation to request an administrative review from the Minister of Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness, seeking that their name be removed from the list (section 15 of the SATA). The Minister may afford the listed person a reasonable opportunity to make representations and share a factual basis for the decision to allow the listed person to respond. This occurred in the case of both Appellants. The Minister then makes a decision determining whether there are reasonable grounds to keep the person's name on the list within 90 days (or longer if both the Minister and the named individual agree) (subsection 15(6) of the SATA).

[204] The SATA also provides a right of appeal to the listed individual, in which the Minister's decision is reviewed and a designated judge assesses if it was reasonable based on all the information presented (subsection 16(4) of the SATA).

[205] The appeal process in the current two cases resulted in the following:

- An opportunity to be heard was offered to both Appellants and the Minister (paragraph 16(6)(d) of the SATA), which resulted in 4-day public hearings held in Vancouver where 3 witnesses were heard and submissions were made;
- Upon request from the Minister, the holding of ex parte and in camera hearings (paragraph 16(6)(a) of the SATA) where witnesses and submissions were heard and case management issues dealt with;
- The issuance, by the designated judge, of 22 Public Communications providing summaries of ex parte and in camera hearings and disclosing information without jeopardizing national security or the safety of any person (paragraph 16(6)(c) of the SATA);
- The disclosure, through ex parte and in camera hearings, of more evidence than
 what was presented to the Minister for his decisions. This evidence, presented
 through examinations and cross-examinations by the Attorney General and the
 Amici was reliable and appropriate (subsection 16(4) and paragraph 16(6)(e) of
 the SATA);
- The issuance of an order and reasons on October 5, 2021, that allowed more information to be disclosed to the Appellants through lifts agreed upon by the Attorney General and the Amici, and accepted by the designated judge. Public summaries ensuring that such disclosure did not jeopardize national security or endanger the safety of any person were also issued. As a result, a revised appeal book comprising of all the disclosures, summaries and remaining redactions was forwarded to all concerned on October 12, 2021;
- Public and confidential submissions were filed.

[206] The above list reveals without a doubt that the process has afforded the right to be heard.

(5) The impartial and independent judge [Table of Contents]

[207] The SATA specifically demands that the appeal process be presided over by a designated judge of the Federal Court and named by the Chief Justice (subsection 16(7) of the SATA) who in turn is appointed according to section 101 of the *Constitution Act*, 1867.

[208] This decision by the legislature ensures that the judge handling SATA appeals is knowledgeable on national security issues and that the unwritten constitutional principles of judicial independence are followed. Not only must the judge be independent and impartial in reality, but he or she must also appear to be independent and unbiased. Does the SATA create the impression that the appointed judge is biased and compromised? *Charkaoui I*, at paragraphs 32 to 47 addresses this question in connection to the designated judge presiding over the IRPA certificate processes, a role that is comparable to that they have in SATA appeals.

[209] Because I was aware of the S.C.C.'s teaching in *Charkaoui I*, I took an active and non-deferential position throughout the proceedings. When I selected the *Amici* and envisioned and evaluated their role, I was also aware that the SATA did not provide for special advocates as it does in the IRPA certificate procedures. I appointed the *Amici* because the designated judge must ensure a fair procedure, and I wanted to show that as a designated judge, I must not only be independent and impartial, but also appear to be as such. Their presence and participation in the *ex parte* and *in camera* sessions helped to make this a reality.

[210] This was important.

[211] As a result, I attributed to the *Amici* nearly all of the tasks assigned to special advocates under the IRPA certificate legislation. I instructed them to represent the Appellants' interests in both cases. They had discussions with the Appellants and were even granted an extension to do so. They would have been able to communicate with the Appellants again after seeing the confidential information, with this Court's leave, but no request was ever made. While I do not know if the Appellants took advantage of the opportunity to communicate with the *Amici* at any time, provided it was one-way communication that was protected by both solicitor-client and litigation privileges, this was an option available to them in the current proceedings.

[212] The *Amici* took part in full in the *ex parte* and *in camera* proceedings. They conducted lengthy cross-examinations of witnesses. There were objections to the breadth of their interrogation. They also raised issues of fact and law, some of which were novel, and during the confidential hearings, they provided confidential submissions that obviously put forward different points of view from that of the counsel for the Attorney General. The *Amici* were given the task of representing the Appellants' interests and they fully assumed that role. The *Amici* generated an adversarial tone during the confidential proceedings through their active involvement, which was exactly what former Chief Justice McLachlin sought in such extraordinary closed sessions, as detailed in *Charkaoui I* [at paragraph 50]:

There are two types of judicial systems, and they ensure that the full case is placed before the judge in two different ways. In inquisitorial systems, as in Continental Europe,

the judge takes charge of the gathering of evidence in an independent and impartial way. By contrast, an adversarial system, which is the norm in Canada, relies on the parties — who are entitled to disclosure of the case to meet, and to full participation in open proceedings — to produce the relevant evidence. The designated judge under the IRPA does not possess the full and independent powers to gather evidence that exist in the inquisitorial process. At the same time, the named person is not given the disclosure and the right to participate in the proceedings that characterize the adversarial process. The result is a concern that the designated judge, despite his or her best efforts to get all the relevant evidence, may be obliged — perhaps unknowingly — to make the required decision based on only part of the relevant evidence. As Hugessen J. has noted, the adversarial system provides "the real warranty that the outcome of what we do is going to be fair and just" (p. 385); without it, the judge may feel "a little bit like a fig leaf" (Proceedings of the March 2002 Conference, at p. 386).

- [213] When advocating for the Appellants' interests, the *Amici* could have petitioned the Court to hear a witness or call an expert witness if needed. I would have heard both the *Amici* and the Attorney General's counsel if such a request had been made. The main difference with the IRPA certificate proceedings is that in instances involving *Amici*, leave from the Court would be required. In such instances, having a judge act as the gatekeeper to the proceedings may be in the best interests of justice.
- [214] I note in passing that dealing with special advocates can be challenging, as I have learned from my experience in certificate proceedings where special advocates were appointed. Indeed, the functions, responsibilities, and power of the special advocates are fixed, with little room for manoeuvring. It is informative to know that special advocates with no restrictions on resources can present a slew of motions that can be time-consuming and sometimes ineffective (for more on this see *Brar 2020*, at paragraphs 172–179, in particular paragraph 176).
- [215] For the reasons enumerated above, I believe that my role in these appeals can only reflect that I served in an impartial and independent capacity.
 - (6) Disclosure [Table of Contents]
- [216] It is worth repeating that full disclosure is not an absolute right. The protection of national security information can legitimately limit the scope of disclosure of what would be revealed to a person involved in such proceedings under normal circumstances, as discussed at paragraph 6 of these reasons.
- [217] The public order and reasons issued in each appeal (*Brar 2021* and *Dulai 2021*) explain why national security material had to be protected in both cases without disclosing anything prejudicial to national security or the safety of any person. At paragraph 90 of the *Brar 2021* decision, I included a summary of the allegations that became publicly known to both Appellants. Mr. Brar's case had 16 allegations, whereas Mr. Dulai's had 10. The summaries cross-referenced each allegation to the appealed decisions. A revised appeal book was also issued for each file, including the new disclosure that resulted from lifts of redactions or information summaries. The work done in the *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings led to the disclosure of additional substantial information.
- [218] Even though there was limited disclosure at the time, the submissions made by each of the Appellants in response to the two-page summaries submitted by the Minister in the administrative review proceedings are equally revelatory with respect to

their knowledge of the case against them (see revised appeal books, at pages 118–136 (*Brar*) and pages 157–180 (*Dulai*)).

- [219] As the judge having heard all of the evidence, I am confident that most of the allegations, as well as most of the evidence, have ultimately been disclosed to the Appellants. Nevertheless, in each case, some of the specific allegations have not been made public, and some, but not all, of the evidence in support of known allegations also remains unknown to the Appellants.
- [220] As is explained in the Reasonableness Decisions, each allegation that has not been disclosed to the Appellants is related to a public allegation in the appeals. Thus, although the Appellants may not be aware of the specificity of the undisclosed allegations, they are aware of the essence of those allegations as reflected in the public allegations. As a result, they have been able to provide the necessary guidance to their counsel and the *Amici*.
- [221] Indeed, the *Amici*, who were appointed by the undersigned to represent the Appellants' interests, were aware of the unknown claims and evidence, and they challenged all of them. They presented factual and legal submissions that addressed opposing viewpoints to the Attorney General's counsel. The IRPA's special advocate mechanism could not have done more in the current appeals' unique circumstances because a special advocate could not have retrieved more from the protected national security material. As a result, I find that the *Amici* mandated to represent the Appellants' interests were meaningful and substantial substitutes for absolute disclosure for the purposes of a SATA appeal, just as the special advocates were found to be a meaningful and substantial substitute for adherence to the principles of fundamental justice in the IRPA proceedings.
- [222] The Appellants' submissions were comprehensive, extensive, and well documented, and I can infer from everything that has been disclosed in both appeals that the Appellants have a sufficient understanding of the case to which they have to respond.
- [223] The SATA protections ensure that persons on the SATA list have a meaningful opportunity to be heard, but not to the point of disclosing information that might jeopardize national security. There is a delicate balancing act between an acceptable judicial system that ensures air transportation safety and providing a fair recourse to impacted citizens. I believe that this balancing act has been achieved in the circumstances.
- [224] On this, I add the following: in order to make the SATA appeal provisions more consistent in its application and ensure procedural fairness when responding to the particulars of these appeals, the appointment of *amicus curiae* or an equivalent should be legislated and not left to a designated judge's discretion. The appointment should be automatic, with a mandate to represent the appellant's interests, similar to the role given to the *Amici* in the two current proceedings. Leaving it up to the presiding judge's discretion without changing the legislation could potentially open the door to unfair appeal processes.
 - (7) The decision has to be made on the facts and law [Table of Contents]
- [225] As can be seen from the foregoing, I consider that I have all of the facts necessary to make a decision on the reasonableness of the Minister's decisions in both

appeals. I was privy to all of the public, *ex parte* and *in camera* evidence, heard witnesses in both forums, saw and heard the Minister's counsel's and Appellants' submissions in public and confidential hearings, and saw and heard the *Amici*'s challenge the Minister's evidence and their confidential submissions. I also have all legal arguments on the law and constitutional issues, having received public comments from the Minister's and public counsel, as well as confidential submissions from the Attorney General and the *Amici*. The Reasonableness Decisions and the confidential reasons that complement them, including the present decision, are the result of this process.

D. Conclusion on section 7 analysis [Table of Contents]

[226] Given my finding that the SATA's administrative review and appeal procedure available to listed individuals are fair processes that comply with the principles of natural justice when considering relevant factors (*Charkaoui I*, at paragraph 21), it is not necessary to go through a section 1 analysis.

[227] The Appellants also made other arguments, which have largely been addressed in the present reasons. As they tackle some of the same issues highlighted in this judgment but in more detail, the Reasonableness Decisions should also be consulted (see section entitled "Legal principles related to the disclosure of national security information in judicial civil and administrative proceedings" in both Reasonableness Decisions, at page 49 [at paragraph 110] (Brar 2022) and page 48 [at paragraph 107] (Dulai 2022).

[228] The constitutional question is answered in the following way:

Do sections 15 and 16 of the SATA violate the Appellants' rights to section 7 of the *Charter*, specifically their rights to liberty and security of the person, because they permit the Minister, and the Court, to determine the reasonableness of the Appellants' designation as listed persons, and the reasonableness of the Minister's decision based on information that is not disclosed to the Appellants and in relation to which they have no opportunity to respond?

If so, is the violation of the Appellants' section 7 rights justified by section 1 of the Charter?

[229] The answer is that although the SATA deprives the Appellants of their right to the security of the person, this violation is done in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice. Indeed, the SATA and the inclusion of *Amici* provided a substantial substitute to ensure a fair process. As a result, no section 1 analysis is required.

X. Overall conclusions on sections 6 and 7 of the Charter [Table of Contents]

[230] In the current decision I considered whether section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the SATA, as well as sections 15 and 16, infringed on the Appellants' constitutional rights, specifically sections 6 and 7 of the Charter. Ultimately, I determined that both the international mobility right (paragraph 6(1)(a)) and the national mobility right (paragraph 6(2)(b)) had been violated, but that these violations were justified under section 1 of the Charter. I also found that the section 7 Charter security right was engaged, but that the deprivation of security complied with the principles of natural justice given the SATA's administrative review and appeal process which included, among other things, a substantial substitute for full disclosure and a fair process. As a result, a section 1 analysis was not required.

- [231] Infringements to section 6 of the Charter in this case were the results of two main causes. First, the Appellants would have great difficulty leaving the continent because they are unable to travel by air, which restricts their freedom "[to] leave" under subsection 6(1) of the Charter. Second, since I deemed travelling by air within Canada for personal or business purposes to be a necessity rather than a privilege for a Canadian citizen, the Appellants' possibility to work is restricted by their inability to rely on air transportation because of their status as listed persons. The ability to seek a living in any province is a constitutional right under paragraph 6(2)(b) of the Charter, and any restriction to it constitutes a breach.
- [232] The section 1 analysis showed that the violations were justified and necessary to safeguard national security and the security of any person. Indeed, the analysis concluded that the SATA's limitations were properly defined, unambiguous, and legally mandated in order to achieve national security purposes.
- [233] Furthermore, the SATA's objective of ensuring Canadians' air safety, and providing a fair procedure for listed individuals who want to make submissions or appeal a decision was clearly stated, pressing, and substantial. A correlation was established between the purpose of air transportation security, terrorist acts, and the limits that are in place through the SATA. The legislation aims to protect air travel against terrorist threats, and one method of doing so is to restrict international mobility. To this effect, prohibiting air travel is the only infallible way to prevent a terrorist attack on a plane or the facilitation of such an act, whether in Canada or abroad. Consequently, the SATA is rationally connected to its objective.
- [234] The SATA's safety goal is causally linked to a breach of the national mobility right, and as a result, the mechanisms used to reach this objective are proportional. As long as a person is suspected of posing a threat to Canadian air travel, the decision to prevent them from travelling domestically by air can be justified. This is also true of an individual suspected of flying from Canada to an international destination in order to commit a terrorist act in violation of Canadian law.
- [235] When it comes to infringing international and national mobility rights, the SATA scheme only does so to the extent that it is reasonably necessary to achieve the purpose of air transport safety. Limiting mobility rights is the best way to ensure safety in air transportation, as long as suitable recourses are available to dispute the claims levelled against the named individuals. Essentially, the safety of air transportation from terrorist acts and Canadians' trust in air travel trump any difficulties caused by the violation of the Appellants' mobility rights, whether for foreign travel or to earn a living within Canada. Therefore, the section 6 constitutional challenge is dismissed.
- [236] While the limits imposed by the SATA on the Appellants' section 7 Charter security right were in accordance with the principles of fundamental justice and therefore there was no need to conduct a section 1 analysis, I nevertheless recognized that having one's name on the no-fly list has an impact on their right to security of the person.
- [237] In view of this fact and because the individuals' security rights in these instances were determined to be partially violated, it was necessary to ensure that the SATA's impact on these interests was consistent with the principles of fundamental justice. As a result, I had to ensure that the SATA's administrative review and appeal procedures gave the Appellants a fair chance to defend themselves against the allegations, despite

the fact that national security intelligence prevented them from seeing the entire record and from attending all hearings in person.

- [238] For this purpose, I completed a thorough examination of the role of the designated judge and of the *Amici*. It reaffirmed that the designated judge in a SATA appeal has a larger gatekeeper role to play given the national security angle. It was also a reminder that, based on *Charkaoui I*, the designated judge is the only person capable of supplying the important judicial component of the procedure and must play an active and non-deferential role to ensure that his independence and impartiality are not jeopardized by seeming too deferential to the Government's position. The designated judge's active interventionist role and enhanced ability to skeptically evaluate and vet material demonstrates that he or she can make choices based on the facts and the law.
- [239] As for the *Amici*, they saw their mandate expanded in July 2020 to include the representation of the Appellants' interests during *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings. I also made sure that all the conversations the *Amici* had with the Appellants would be protected by solicitor-client privilege and compelled them to act as cross-examiners under the new mandate, which they faithfully did. This allows us to conclude that the *Amici*'s mandate and role in these cases were a meaningful substitute to ensure compliance with principles of natural justice.
- [240] Lastly, owing to summaries of allegations that were made available to the Appellants and in which they accessed some of the supporting evidence, they knew the essence of the case against them and were given a fair chance to respond to it and give adequate directions to their counsel.
- [241] In light of this, the constitutional challenge raised by section 7 of the Charter is also dismissed.

XI. A few last words [Table of Contents]

- [242] These appeals have been ongoing for a little over three years (April 2019). According to subsection 16(4) of the SATA, such appeals must be resolved "without delay." While appeals under the SATA are complex and the legislation requires specific procedures such as confidential and public hearings, I do not believe that three years can be qualified as being "without delay". Considering the COVID-19 pandemic, however, that began in March 2020, this timeline was the best we could do under the circumstances.
- [243] In my opening remarks at the public hearings in Vancouver in April 2022, I went into great detail about the various steps we underwent. I think that future appeals that are filed in a timely manner (assuming that day ever comes) can be resolved in 10 to 14 months. The parties, counsel and the designated judge must prioritize such proceedings in order to accomplish that.
- [244] Finally, I would like to express my gratitude to everyone involved in these proceedings. In action, you were professionals. Notably, a sincere appreciation to the personnel at the Federal Court's Designated Proceedings Section, without whose assistance it would have been challenging to complete our work.

JUDGMENT in T-669-19 and T-670-19 [Table of Contents]

Question 1:

Do section 8 and paragraph 9(1)(a) of the Secure Air Travel Act, S.C. 2015, c. 20, s. 11 (SATA) infringe on the Appellants' mobility rights pursuant to section 6 of the Canadian Charter of Rights and Freedoms, being Part I of the Constitution Act, 1982, Schedule B, Canada Act 1982, 1982, c. 11 (U.K.) [R.S.C., 1985, Appendix II, No. 44] (Charter)?

Answer:

Those provisions alone do not infringe the Appellants' mobility rights, but the SATA scheme does.

Question 2:

Can this infringement be justified under section 1 of the Charter?

Answer:

Yes. I note that had I conducted an analysis pursuant to the *Doré* framework, as suggested by the Minister's counsel, my above reasoning would apply to find that the restriction imposed on Mr. Dulai's mobility rights by the Minister's decision was reasonable.

Question 3:

Do sections 15 and 16 of the SATA violate the Appellants' rights to section 7 of the Charter; specifically, their rights to liberty and security of the person because they permit the Minister and the Court to determine the reasonableness of the Appellants' designation as listed persons and the reasonableness of the Minister's decision based on information that is not disclosed to the Appellants and in relation to which they have no opportunity to respond?

Answer:

The Appellants' section 7 Charter security rights have been violated but a substantial substitute was found to ensure that the appeal process was fair.

No costs are awarded.

Annex A [Table of Contents]

Procedural history covering both Appeals (Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai)

- [1] Following the filing of the Notices of Appeal from Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai, this Court ordered the Respondent to serve and file a public appeal book for each appeal, the contents of which were agreed upon by the parties. These appeal books contained numerous redactions made by the Respondent in order to protect the confidentiality of information or evidence it believed would be injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person if disclosed.
- [2] Subsequently, this Court ordered on October 7, 2019, that the Respondent file with the Designated Registry of this Court an unredacted appeal book for each appeal, containing and clearly identifying the information that the Respondent asserts could be

injurious to national security or endanger the safety of any person if disclosed. The Court also ordered that the Respondent file classified affidavits with the Designated Registry explaining the grounds for the redactions as well as file and serve public affidavits explaining the nature of the redactions in a manner that does not injure national security or endanger the safety of any person. During the process of preparing the unredacted classified appeal books and the affidavits, a number of redactions were lifted by the Respondent, resulting in further disclosure to the Appellants.

- [3] The Respondent also advised the Court and the parties that, pursuant to paragraph 16(6)(g) of the SATA, it was withdrawing certain classified information from the appeal book in response to Mr. Dulai's statutory appeal. The Court accepted that the legislation provides for the withdrawal of information and issued an Order authorizing the withdrawal of the information and the replacement of the relevant pages in the classified unredacted appeal book. However, the Court also ordered that, as a superior court of record, it would keep three copies of the appeal book containing the withdrawn information under seal in a separate location at the Designated Registry, at least until the issue of the withdrawn information retention had been dealt with.
- [4] In response to the inclusion of redacted information in the appeal books, the Court appointed two *Amici* in an order dated October 7, 2019. The Court originally ordered that the *Amici* be given access to the confidential information as of December 9, 2019, following which they would not be permitted to engage in two-way communication with the Appellants and their counsel, except with leave from the Court. At the request of the *Amici*, this was extended to January 20, 2020, in order to allow for more effective and meaningful communication with the Appellants in light of the redactions lifted by the Respondent.
- [5] On January 16, 2020, an *ex parte* and *in camera* case management conference was held to discuss the next steps concerning the confidential information in this case. A public summary of the case management conference was provided to the Appellants shortly thereafter. During this case management conference, the Respondent and the *Amici* raised numerous legal issues regarding the withdrawn information (in Mr. Dulai's case only), the role of the *Amici* in these appeals, the bifurcation of the appeals process between the "disclosure phase" and the "merits phase," and the role of the designated judge. The Court proposed that the *Amici* and the Respondent meet to discuss the issues raised and correspond with the Court concerning the preliminary legal issues to be adjudicated before moving further in the appeals.
- [6] Notwithstanding the Respondent's position that the Court should address, on a preliminary basis, the applicable standard of review in these appeals, which the Court found to be premature at this stage, a list of preliminary legal issues was agreed upon by the Appellants, the Respondent, and the *Amici* during a case management conference held on February 13, 2020. This list of preliminary questions was subsequently endorsed by the Court via its order dated February 18, 2020.
- [7] On April 16, 2020, a public hearing via teleconference was held where the parties and the *Amici* made oral submissions on these legal questions.
- [8] On June 20, 2020, this Court issued detailed reasons in *Brar v Canada* (Public Safety and Emergency Preparedness), 2020 FC 729 [*Brar 2020*] answering the preliminary legal questions in these appeals. These reasons addressed the role of the designated judge in appeals under the SATA, the role and powers of the *Amici* in these appeals, the procedure applicable to the withdrawal of information by the Minister under

the SATA, and the possibility and purpose of *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings on the merits under the SATA. For more information on the facts up to the issuance of these reasons, see paragraphs 22 to 28 in *Brar 2020*.

- [9] On July 15, 2020, a public case management conference was held to discuss the next steps in the appeals.
- [10] On July 17, 2020, an order was issued to replace the order dated October 7, 2019, appointing the *Amici* to better reflect the Court's reasons dated June 30, 2020, and set out the next steps in the appeals.
- [11] On September 10, 2020, the Respondent filed a replacement *ex parte* affidavit for the CSIS affiant due to the unavailability of the previous affiant. Additionally, in light of the reasons in *Brar 2020*, counsel for the Attorney General filed a supplemental *ex parte* affidavit from the same affiant on September 25, 2020.
- [12] On September 22, 2020, an *ex parte* and *in camera* case management conference was held to discuss the progress of the appeals. A public summary of the discussion that took place was communicated to the Appellants in Public Communication No. 5.
- [13] On October 5, 2020, an *ex parte* and *in camera* hearing was held. The AG's counsel and the *Amici* presented their agreed-upon lifts and summaries of redacted information to the Court in preparation for the upcoming *ex parte* and *in camera* hearing on the disputed redactions. This Court approved the proposed lifts and summaries. On October 7, 2020, a public summary of the hearing was issued to the Appellants in Public Communication No. 6.
- [14] The *ex parte* and *in camera* examination and cross-examination of the AG's witnesses in Mr. Brar's appeal took place over six days on October 14, 15, 16, 19, 20 and 22, 2020. The AG's counsel presented evidence on the injury to national security of disclosing the contested redactions and summaries proposed by the *Amici*, as well as the reliability and credibility of the redacted information. The *Amici* questioned the justifications for the redactions and the summaries proposed by the AG's counsel, and questioned the affiants with documentary evidence. On November 3, 2020, a public summary of the hearings was communicated to the Appellants in Public Communication No. 7, which summarizes the hearings as follows:

October 14, 2020

Court began at 10:00 a.m. on October 14, 2020. The Minister called a CSIS witness who filed two (2) classified affidavits in these proceedings, one (1) on September 10, 2020, and another on September 25, 2020. The first affidavit relates primarily to the injury to national security of disclosing the redacted information and the supplementary affidavit relates primarily to the reliability and credibility of the redacted information.

The witness gave evidence on various points, including:

- aspects of CSIS' operations that are relevant to SATA and the PPP;
- CSIS policies and procedures relating to the PPP including policies and procedures in relation to preparing, reviewing and updating case briefs;
- the Khalistani extremism threat in Canada;
- the reasons for Mr. Brar's nomination in exigent circumstances;

- subsequent instances where Mr. Brar's case brief was reviewed and/or revised, and Mr. Brar was relisted, including reasons for changes to Mr. Brar's case brief;
- the harm to national security that would result if each contested redaction and summary was disclosed; and
- the reliability and credibility of the redacted information, including the origin of some of this information and how it was assessed by the Service.

October 15, 2020

Court resumed in the morning of October 15, 2020, at 9:30 a.m. and the AG's counsel completed its examination of the CSIS witness late in the morning. Immediately after the examination in chief, the *Amici* commenced their cross-examination of the CSIS witness, which continued for the remainder of the day. The cross-examination on this day included questions on a variety of topics, including CSIS' policies, procedures and practices in respect of the PPP and the reliability and credibility of the redacted information.

During the cross-examination, the AG's counsel reminded the Court and the *Amici* that public counsel for the appellant would play an important role, and objected that the *Amici*'s role should not be to duplicate that of public counsel. The Court endorsed those comments, and so directed the *Amici*. The *Amici* filed a number of exhibits on various topics.

October 16, 2020

The *Amici* continued to cross-examine the CSIS witness for part of the morning on October 16, 2020, at 9:30 a.m., after which Court was adjourned until Monday.

October 19, 2020

Court resumed the morning of October 19, 2020, at 9:30 a.m., and the *Amici* continued their cross-examination of the CSIS witness for the remainder of the day. The cross-examination continued to address the reliability and credibility of the redacted information.

October 20, 2020

The cross-examination of the CSIS witness continued for the morning of October 20, 2020. Among other things, the questions focused on the injury to national security of releasing certain information or summaries. After lunch, the AG's counsel conducted its re-direct of the CSIS affiant, which was concluded mid-afternoon.

October 22, 2020

Court commenced at 9:30 a.m. on October 22, 2020, and the Minister called a witness from Public Safety Canada. The Public Safety witness gave evidence on various points, including:

- the PPP, the PPAG and the PPIO;
- the documents that were prepared in relation to Mr. Brar's listing; and
- injury to national security that would result from releasing certain information.

The *Amici* completed its cross-examination of the Public Safety affiant mid-afternoon on that same day, which focused on the PPP, the Passenger Protect Advisory Group, the Passenger Protect Inquiries Office and the documents relating to Mr. Brar's listing.

[15] The *ex parte* and *in camera* examination and cross-examination of the Minister's witnesses in Mr. Dulai's matter was held on November 16, 17 and 23, 2020. At the outset of the hearing, the AG's counsel and the *Amici* consented to an order that would render the evidentiary record resulting from the Brar and Dulai hearings subject to any arguments in relation to the weight, relevancy and admissibility of the evidence. The

AG's counsel and the *Amici* agreed to an order at the beginning of the hearing that would make the evidentiary record resulting from the Brar and Dulai hearings subject to any arguments over the weight, relevancy and admissibility of the evidence. This allowed for efficiencies in the Dulai examinations and cross-examinations. On December 2, 2020, a public summary of the hearings was communicated to the Appellants in Public Communication No. 8, which summarizes the hearings as follows:

November 16, 2020

Court began at 9:45 a.m. on November 16, 2020. The AG's counsel commenced by filing four (4) charts, namely (i) a classified chart listing all of the contested redactions and contested summaries, (ii) a classified chart itemizing the proposed uncontested redactions, uncontested summaries and lifts agreed to by the AG, (iii) a classified chart containing only the CSIS contested redactions and summaries organized in a way to guide the examination of the CSIS witness; and (iv) a classified chart listing excerpts from the transcript of the Brar hearings that apply to the present hearings.

The Minister called the same CSIS witness that it called in the Brar appeal. This witness filed two (2) classified affidavits in these proceedings, one (1) on September 10, 2020, and another on September 25, 2020. The first affidavit relates primarily to the injury to national security of disclosing the redacted information and the supplementary affidavit relates primarily to the reliability and credibility of the redacted information.

Because of the Evidentiary Order, the examination and cross-examination of the CSIS witness in the present appeal was shorter than it was in Brar. That said, the witness gave evidence on various points including:

- the threat posed by Khalistani extremism;
- the reasons for Mr. Dulai's nomination in exigent circumstances;
- subsequent occasions where Mr. Dulai's case brief was reviewed and/or revised, and Mr. Dulai was relisted, including reasons for changes to Mr. Dulai's case brief;
- the harm to national security that would result if each contested redaction and summary was disclosed; and
- the reliability and credibility of the redacted information, including the origin of some of this information and how it was assessed by the Service.

The AG's counsel completed its examination of the CSIS witness mid-day, after which the *Amici* commenced their cross-examination of the CSIS witness for the remainder of the day. The cross-examination on this day focused on the reliability and credibility of the redacted information, while also exploring the process by which Mr. Dulai was nominated for and has been maintained on the SATA list.

November 17, 2020

Court resumed in the morning of November 17, 2020, at 9:30 a.m. The *Amici* continued to cross-examine the CSIS witness, and questions focused on the reliability and credibility of the redacted information and the injury to national security of releasing certain information or summaries. The *Amici* filed a number of exhibits on various topics. The cross-examination was complete near the end of the day, after which the AG's counsel conducted a brief re-direct of the CSIS witness.

November 23, 2020

Court resumed at 10:00 a.m. on November 23, 2020. The Minister called a witness from Public Safety Canada. This witness also testified in the Brar appeal. Because of the Evidentiary Order, the examination and cross-examination of the Public Safety witness in the present appeal was shorter than it was in Brar.

The AG's counsel conducted its direct examination for the first half of the morning, which focused primarily on the documents that were prepared in relation to Mr. Dulai's listing. The *Amici* completed its cross-examination of the Public Safety affiant by the lunch break, which focused on the documents relating to Mr. Dulai's listing and the process by which individuals are placed on the SATA list.

- [16] On December 16, 2020, a public case management conference was held with all counsel to update the Appellants on the next steps in the appeals. In addition, the AG's counsel filed an *ex parte* motion record to strike certain evidence resulting from the *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings from the record.
- [17] Following the *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings, on January 8, 2021, the AG's counsel and the *Amici* filed confidential submissions concerning the redactions.
- [18] On January 14, 2021, the Court issued Public Communication No. 9 to inform the Appellants on the progress of the appeals in light of the COVID-19 situation and, more specifically, the recent orders enacted by the provinces of Quebec and Ontario relating to the pandemic. The AG's counsel and the *Amici* then informed the Court that they were of the view that in-person hearings in these matters should be postponed until the stay-at-home order was lifted.
- [19] On February 4, 2021, an *ex parte* case management conference was held in the presence of the AG's counsel and the *Amici* to discuss the status of the appeals. I also raised a question of law, namely whether the principles set out by the SCC in *Harkat* in relation to the requirement to provide the Appellant(s) summaries or information that would permit them to know the Minister's case, applied to the SATA appeal scheme. I requested comments and further submissions from the AG's counsel and the *Amici*.
- [20] On February 5, 2021, a public summary of the discussion was communicated to the Appellants in Public Communication No. 10.
- [21] On February 9, 2021, counsel for the Appellants requested permission to provide the Court with submissions respecting the above question of law. The Court granted leave. Counsel for the Appellants, the AG's counsel and the *Amici* filed their written representations on February 19, 2021. The AG's counsel filed their reply on February 24, 2021.
- [22] On February 24, 2021, the *Amici* filed *ex parte* written representations concerning the AG's counsel's motion to strike certain evidence from the record.
- [23] On March 3, 2021, an *ex parte* case management conference was held in the presence of the AG's counsel and the *Amici* to discuss the possible adjournment of the *ex parte* and *in camera* hearing scheduled for March 4, 2021. A public communication was issued to all parties to explain that the Court proposed, and the AG's counsel and the *Amici* agreed, to adjourn the hearing scheduled for the next day due to COVID-19 related reasons and schedule an *ex parte* and *in camera* case management conference on March 9, 2021, to discuss the specific legal issues for which the Court was seeking to receive submissions.
- [24] Ex parte and in camera hearings were held on June 16 and June 17, 2021. The purpose of the hearings was for AG's counsel and the Amici to make submissions on disclosure, the reasonably informed threshold, and the AG's motion to strike. On July 21, 2021, a public summary of the hearings was communicated to the Appellants in Public Communication No. 11 which can be found below:

Court commenced at 9:30 a.m. on June 16, 2021, and submissions were made by the AG's counsel and the *Amici* on disclosure and the requirement to reasonably inform the appellants.

AG Submissions on Disclosure and Reasonably Informed

The AG's counsel filed the following documents at the commencement of the proceedings:

- an updated chart for each file containing the contested claims and summaries;
- an updated chart for each file containing the summaries and redactions agreed to by the AG's counsel and the *Amici*;
- an updated chart for each file containing the lifts made by the AG:
- a chart for each file listing all of the allegations against the appellants that have been disclosed, partially disclosed or summarized, and withheld; and
- a copy of the Recourse Decision in each file reflecting the agreed-upon summaries and redactions and the lifts made by the AG.

The AG's counsel made submissions on the applicable test for disclosure in appeals under section 16 of the SATA. The AG's counsel argued that if disclosure of information would result in injury to national security or endanger the safety of any person, it should not be disclosed. Additionally, it argued that SATA does not authorize the Court to balance different interests that could be at play when assessing disclosure, including whether or not the appellant is reasonably informed. The AG's counsel then went through the chart containing the contested claims and summaries to highlight why lifting or summarizing these claims would result in injury to national security.

The AG's counsel then made submissions on the reasonably informed threshold and argued that at this point in time, the appellants are reasonably informed. The AG's counsel highlighted that the scheme allows for some information to not be disclosed or summarized, and that the assessment of whether or not the appellants are reasonably informed is fact specific and should be made throughout the appeals. The AG's counsel stressed that the threshold under subsection 8(1) of SATA, namely "reasonable grounds to suspect," must inform the Court's consideration of whether or not the appellants are reasonably informed.

Amici's Submissions on Disclosure and Irreconcilable Tension

The Amici made submissions on two issues.

First, the *Amici* argued that the decision of the SCC in *Harkat* requires (in circumstances where redacted information or evidence cannot be lifted or summarized without national security injury, such information comes within the incompressible minimum amount of disclosure that the appellant must receive in order to know and meet the case against him), that the Minister withdraw the information or evidence whose non-disclosure prevents the appellant from being reasonably informed: *Harkat* para 59. The *Amici* argued that this situation, described in *Harkat* as an irreconcilable tension, arises in both the Brar appeal and the Dulai appeal. The *Amici* further argued that given the Minister's disagreement with the *Amici* that irreconcilable tensions arise in these appeals, he will not withdraw evidence of his own motion. The Court must therefore decide whether or not the appeals involve irreconcilable tensions.

To that end, the *Amici* proposed a form of order the Court should make if it agrees with the *Amici* that either or both of the appeals involve situations of irreconcilable tension. The order would identify the specific information or evidence that gives rise to the irreconcilable tension and declare that the Minister must withdraw that information or evidence within a

fixed period (the *Amici* proposed 60 days), failing which the Court will be unable to determine the reasonableness of the appellant's listing and must allow the appeal.

Second, the *Amici* reviewed the contested claims and summaries in each appeal. In some instances, the *Amici* argued that the AG's redactions were not necessary (because the information or evidence was not injurious). In other cases, the *Amici* agreed that disclosure would be injurious but proposed a summary that would avert the injury while allowing the appellant to be reasonably informed of the case he must meet. In other cases still, the *Amici* argued that the information or evidence could not be lifted or summarized without injury, but had to be disclosed for the appellant to be reasonably informed. In these latter cases, the *Amici* asked the court to make the declaration of irreconcilable tension described above.

The *Amici* emphasized that the applicable standard is that of a "serious risk of injury," and that the judge must ensure throughout the proceeding that the Minister does not cast too wide a net with his claims of confidentiality.

Other Issues

The parties discussed other procedural issues, including the format and timing for filing a revised appeal book following the Court's decision on disclosure, a timeline for appealing this decision and staying the order if an appeal is filed, and potential redactions to the list of exhibits.

June 17, 2021

The hearing resumed at 9:30 a.m. on June 17, 2021, and the Court heard arguments from both the AG's counsel and the *Amici* on the AG's motion to strike. The AG withdrew its motion to strike following the mid-day break.

In the afternoon, the Court discussed with the *Amici* and AG's counsel the possibility of preparing a further summary of the evidence in the *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings, to expand on the summaries provided in Public Communication No.7 (T-669-19) and Public Communication No. 8 (T-670-19) in a way that would not be injurious to national security. The AG's counsel and the *Amici* agreed to prepare a draft summary in this regard.

The Court asked that this summary include confirmation that there is no information or evidence against either Appellant in relation to 8(1)(a) of SATA, and that both listings concern information and evidence in respect of 8(1)(b).

- [25] The issues related to the redacted list of exhibits and disclosure of additional information through summaries were a constant endeavour after the June 2021 hearing. The Appellants were informed of this through Public Communication No. 12. Concerning the list of exhibits, it was later agreed that it would be released in a redacted format once the AG's counsel and the *Amici* had reviewed the determinations made on the redactions at issue as a result of the *ex parte* and *in camera* hearings. As for the summary of additional information, counsel for both the Appellants and Respondent undertook to submit it no later than August 31, 2021. As soon as it was submitted, reviewed, and then agreed upon by the undersigned, it was released as Public Communication No. 13 on August 31, 2021, after an *ex parte* and *in camera* hearing was held the same day.
- [26] From then on, all outstanding matters were taken under reserve with the objective of issuing an order and reasons as soon as possible, which was done on October 5, 2021, and resulted in two Orders (*Brar 2021* and *Dulai 2021*). The issuance of orders was announced in Public Communication No. 16.

- [27] On October 12, 2021, a revised appeal book was filed and made available to all parties. This resulted in a broader scope of disclosure and more information was revealed to the Appellants.
- [28] On November 1, 2021, a case management teleconference was held to discuss all outstanding matters, including the opportunity to be heard for both the Appellants and the Minister pursuant to paragraph 16(6)(d) of the SATA. Then, on December 1, 2021, the Court issued an order regarding the timing for the filing of affidavits and submissions, and the scheduling of hearings planned for 2022.
- [29] On December 7, 2021, and at the request of the presiding judge, an *ex parte* and *in camera* case management conference was held to discuss next steps and other scheduling matters. The Court requested additional *ex parte* and *in camera* submissions to be filed in respect of the classified and public evidence on the record that support the allegations in each appeal. A schedule was established and the Court set a few days aside in May 2022 to hold an *ex parte* and *in camera* hearing following the public hearings, if deemed necessary. This information was confirmed in Public Communication No. 17, issued on December 8, 2021.
- [30] On January 31, 2022, the Court received further affidavits from Mr. Dulai including personal material that, in the view of his counsel, could jeopardize Mr. Dulai's safety or security if made public. As a result, in a letter dated January 31, 2022, his counsel requested the option to file a "public" version of the affidavit in which sensitive information would be redacted.
- [31] On February 2, 2022, the AG's counsel filed their written and confidential submissions.
- [32] The Court issued an oral direction on February 7, 2022, in response to Mr. Dulai's letter and the AG's counsel's reply of February 4, 2022. The Court stated that it was satisfied with the parties' agreed-upon proposal for Mr. Dulai to send a list of proposed redactions to the AG's counsel for discussion and parties to reach an agreement.
- [33] On February 25, 2022, the *Amici* filed their written and confidential submissions.
- [34] On March 1, 2022, the AG's counsel filed their public affidavits for each file (Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai).
- [35] On March 9, 2022, the AG's counsel filed a confidential reply in response to the *Amici*'s confidential submissions.
- [36] On March 17, 2022, a public case management teleconference was held to discuss details of planned public hearings in Vancouver.
- [37] On March 21, 2022, both Appellants filed their written representations related to the allegations against them.
- [38] On March 23, 2022, the AG's counsel submitted a letter in response to the case management conference and Public Communication No. 11 confirming that both listings (Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai) were based on paragraph 8(1)(b) of the SATA and not paragraph 8(1)(a).

- [39] On April 5, 2022, the AG's counsel filed classified submissions pinpointing the classified evidence, if any, on which it relies in support of each of the public allegations against the Appellants found in the October 5, 2021, amended public order and reasons.
- [40] On April 11, 2022, Counsel for the Minister filed their public submissions.
- [41] On April 14, 2022, the *Amici* filed classified responding submissions to the AG's counsel's classified submissions.
- [42] Public hearings took place over four days (April 19–22, 2022) in Vancouver, British Columbia. Both Mr. Brar and Mr. Dulai were present and testified, in addition to Ms. Lesley Soper from the Department of Public Safety Canada. Counsel for both Appellants and Respondent were present. The two *Amici* were also in attendance. The purpose of these hearings was to provide the Appellants and the Minister with an opportunity to be heard. A summary of the hearings can be found below:

April 19, 2022

Court commenced at 9:30 a.m. (PT) on April 19, 2022. Both Appellants were present and examined by their respective Counsel. Counsel for the Minister also questioned Mr. Dulai.

The examination consisted of a review of each Appellant's background and questions related to the specific allegations against each one of them.

In both cases, the Appellants answered all the questions and testified on the impact the listing had on them, their families and their businesses.

They both categorically denied being involved in any terrorist-related activities, whether at home or abroad.

April 20, 2022

Court commenced at 9:30 a.m. (PT) on April 20, 2022.

Counsel for the Minister introduced their witness, Ms. Lesley Soper from Public Safety Canada.

Counsel for both Appellants examined Ms. Soper. Several questions regarding her four affidavits were posed focusing on her job and role.

In Mr. Dulai's case, questions were raised about the administrative update and amended direction that occurred in April 2018, media reports and information obtained as a result of alleged mistreatment.

In the case of Mr. Brar, questions were asked about the nature of the advisory group finding, the decision-making process and the nominating agency. Additionally, Counsel for Mr. Brar raised concerns about the credibility and reliability of the sources used to justify the listing of Mr. Brar.

Counsel for Mr. Dulai made submissions on procedural fairness under the common law and section 7 of the *Charter*. Counsel stated that the Minister's delegate violated Mr. Dulai's procedural fairness rights during the administrative recourse process by failing to give him adequate notice of the case to meet before requiring his response, and by failing to provide reasons for his decision to maintain his name on the no-fly list. As a result, Mr. Dulai seeks a declaration from the Court to this effect.

Counsel for Mr. Dulai also submitted that an irreconcilable tension remains between Mr. Dulai's right to an incompressible minimum amount of disclosure and national security

concerns at the appeal stage. Counsel explained that certain information cannot be disclosed to Mr. Dulai because of national security concerns. Consequently, Mr. Dulai cannot know the case to meet and defend himself accordingly. Counsel submits that the only remedy for this irreconcilable tension is for the Minister to withdraw the undisclosable information. If this remedy is not granted, the proceedings will remain unfair. This, in turn, will violate natural justice and Mr. Dulai's rights under section 7 of the *Charter*.

Counsel for Mr. Dulai also raised concerns regarding the choice of witness for public hearings. Despite the fact that Ms. Soper did not have any role in Mr. Dulai's listing, she was the witness retained for the hearing while everything related to the CSIS witness remained out of reach for the Appellant. Consequently, the Appellant cannot be satisfied that alleged foreign interference is not related to Mr. Dulai's listing and cannot be satisfied that the decision was not political. Important rights are at issue when the label of terrorist is involved and this creates a problem.

Counsel for Mr. Dulai said that he feels scared about speaking freely and that he is concerned at the prospect that a country he advocates against [India] is potentially pulling the strings. Mr. Dulai had to put his entire life before this Court in part because he does not have what he needs to respond to the case against him. In these circumstances, Mr. Dulai is owed a high degree of procedural fairness.

April 21, 2022

Court commenced at 9:30 a.m. (PT) on April 20, 2022.

Counsel for Mr. Dulai carried on with their submissions arguing that the case against Mr. Dulai was based to a decisive degree on undisclosed information and that according to *Harkat* at para 59 "the Minister must withdraw the information or evidence whose nondisclosure prevents the named person from being reasonably informed."

His counsel also said that Mr. Dulai was unable to give meaningful direction to his counsel and therefore the *Amici* were not able to represent Mr. Dulai's interests.

Counsel stated that the standard of review in this case was correctness to which the Judge agreed.

Counsel reviewed most of the allegations against Mr. Dulai and provided explanations aimed at casting a doubt on the credibility of sources and/or the authenticity of the intent behind those allegations.

In summary, Mr. Dulai's lawyer feels that the Government of India has him on its radar and is attempting to discredit him because he is a prominent figure who could pose a threat to them.

Counsel for Mr. Brar indicated, at the beginning of their submissions, that they were not pursuing the amended constitutional question of overbreadth, nor the one related to section 6 of the *Charter*. They submitted that if the Court found that Mr. Brar was not provided with the incompressible minimum disclosure then it needed to ignore the reasonableness of the decision.

Counsel for Mr. Brar argued that section 7 of the *Charter* was engaged in Mr. Brar's case because being labelled as a terrorist engages security of the person. The fact that Mr. Brar was labelled by the Canadian government as a terrorist imposes psychological stress. Mr. Brar feels like he is being followed. The allegations and accusations are criminal ones. Among the highest seriousness in our society today. The mere fact of accusing someone of those crimes, this is what is different from the ordinary stresses of living in a society.

Counsel for Mr. Brar submitted that when section 7 is engaged, and they believe it is, the person must know the case and have the opportunity to meet that case. While Mr. Brar takes no issue with the role of the *Amici* in this case, their participation is only as good as

Mr. Brar is receiving enough information to direct both public counsel and the *Amici*. Confidential sources need to be tested to ensure their reliability.

Counsel for Mr. Brar agreed with the standard or review set forward by the Court, i.e., correctness and no deference. However, they disagree with the claim that Mr. Brar received the incompressible minimum disclosure. They submit that the Respondent's written submissions fail to address the new information that is before this Court. If the merit can only be addressed at a *ex parte* and *in camera* meeting than it reinforces the point that Mr. Brar did not received the incompressible minimum disclosure. Counsel states that Public Communication No.13 mentions additional evidence (about credibility and reliability of information) that was added and to which the Appellant is not privy. The concern about why the CSIS' evidence is preferred over that of Mr. Brar remains.

Counsel for Mr. Brar went over the allegations against him and pointed out that the narrative seems to have changed over time with some information that was withdrawn. For example, the allegation related to the training of youths appears in the first two case briefs but is not included in the subsequent one. Eventually, those actions were attributed to Mr. Cheema. The Appellant does not know the sources of these allegations but questions the rationale justifying why some have been withdrawn. Counsel submits that if the sources have been found to be unreliable, then the credibility of other evidence provided by these sources is doubtful.

Counsel for Mr. Brar stated that in and of itself, there is nothing wrong with anti-India activities or being an operational contact for someone, as opposed to what is claimed in the allegations. There are additional factors to consider in Mr. Brar's case, such as the fact that his father may make him a target for the Government of India in addition to his advocacy for social issues in the community. The consulate ban, which was declared in December 2017 and included Mr. Brar's name as a contact, could also play against him.

Lastly, Counsel for Mr. Brar introduced the idea that the timeline of Prime Minister Trudeau's trip to India and the listing of Mr. Brar may be connected, which would indicate foreign interference.

April 22, 2022

Court commenced at 9:30 a.m. (PT) on April 22, 2022.

Counsel for the Minister of Public Safety Canada informed the Court they would be relying on their written submissions and that three aspects would be covered, namely the standard of review, section 7 of the *Charter* and section 6.

They began by saying that neither Appellant had advanced arguments in terms of their liberty interest and that the Minister's position was that section 7 (liberty) was not engaged and had not been interpreted as the right to choose a means of transportation.

When it comes to security of the person, Counsel for the Minister submitted that recent jurisprudence (*Moretto v Canada (Citizenship and Immigration*), 2019 FCA 261) had determined that stand-alone stigma did not engage section 7 of the *Charter*. The Minister is of the opinion that the Appellants' evidence of being saddened, scared and frustrated needs to be looked at from a broader picture and that it is not enough to meet the threshold required to engage section 7.

The Minister's Counsel claims that the Appellants were given the incompressible minimum disclosure during the appeal proceedings. The Appellants have shown they knew the case against them through the precision with which they addressed different issues. Counsel adds that the two *Amici* also acted as substantial substitutes.

The Minister's Counsel argues that the standard of review in these two cases should be reasonableness and not correctness, as agreed with the Court the day prior. Counsel submits that in the SATA context, a court that receives new information with regards to credibility has to go back to the decision and determine its reasonableness. On a statutory

appeal, the court has to use the standard provided. The fact that the judge has more information still requires the court to decide if the decision is still tenable.

Counsel argued that if the decision is reasonable but is not the decision the judge would have made, it is still reasonable, as this is not about a *de novo* determination. Looking at the whole of the record, the question is whether the decision is reasonable and tenable. That is reasonableness.

Counsel for the Minister stated that one did not need to differentiate between paragraph 8(1)(a) or 8(1)(b) in a SATA appeal as the outcome remained the same; being listed. The judge disagreed.

When it comes to section 6 of the *Charter*, Counsel for the Minister argued that subsection 6(2) (interprovincial) was not infringed under the SATA because the law does not create a differential treatment among people. Counsel submitted that the Appellants have the ability to go to other provinces, just not by air. This does not create a differential treatment. The *Charter* does not protect the type of transportation. Moreover, the Appellants have given evidence to the effect that they have been travelling. Although travel time has been longer, they still travelled.

When asked by the Judge if an infringement to section 6 of the *Charter* could be saved under section 1 in this particular case, Counsel for the Minister answered that the required analysis was that of *Doré*, and not section 1 (*Oakes*). Counsel added that every breach of section 6 rights is proportionate and balanced based on national security considerations and that a lack of reasons does not constitute a breach of procedural fairness. The Minister relied on the recommendation as being the reasons.

The AG's counsel was present at the hearing and claimed that the Appellants had been reasonably informed and had received the incompressible minimum disclosure. Counsel went on to say that while Appellants can never know everything, they certainly know enough in light of their submissions and the *Amici*'s. There would not be a need for subsection 16(6) if they knew everything. *Harkat* has to be applied on a case-by-case basis.

The AG's counsel specified that they would argue in *ex parte* submissions that the reasonable grounds to suspect threshold has been met. This is based on confidential information but also on some responses the Appellants have given publicly.

For their part, the *Amici* submitted that they had specifically identified undisclosed allegations that do not come with the incompressible minimum. They maintain that there remains allegations to which the Appellants are unable to respond and therefore unable to direct their counsel and the *Amici*. They argue that this Court should make a *Harkat* declaration in respect to specific allegations – this invites the Minister to either find a way to make further disclosure or failing that, withdraw the allegations.

- [43] An *ex parte* and *in camera* case management conference was held on April 27, 2022, at the Federal Court in Ottawa. Both *Amici* and AG's counsel were present. The purpose of the case management conference was to discuss different topics in relation to the final steps of the statutory appeals.
- [44] Public Communication No. 19 was issued on April 28, 2022. It gave directions following the *ex parte* and *in camera* case management conference held the day before.
- [45] On April 29, 2022, Sadaf Kashia, a lawyer from Edelmann & Co. Law Corporation specializing in complex issues concerning U.S. and Canadian immigration, provided submissions about the circumstances in which individuals may be denied admission to the United States and how that informs what may be inferred from Mr. Dulai's denial of admission on May 27, 2017.

- [46] On May 6, 2022, the Court issued Public Communication No. 20 stating that it had received the NNSICOP unredacted Report on the Prime Minister's trip to India in February 2018, which would be opened and reviewed only by the judge at that time. Additional consultation was to be undertaken should the Court have determined that further disclosure was necessary.
- [47] On May 16, 2022, the Court issued Public Communication No. 21 stating that it had reviewed the NSICOP Report and that the portions pertinent to the issues relating to the appeals would be made available to the AG's counsel and *Amici* for their comments, if any.
- [48] The *Amici* filed written classified submissions on May 18, 2022.
- [49] The Minister filed written classified submissions concerning the NSICOP report on May 18, 2022.
- [50] Both the *Amici* and the Minister filed written classified reply submissions on May 24, 2022.
- [51] On May 25, 2022, the Court issued Public Communication No. 22 stating that it had read the final confidential submissions and replies of the Minister and the *Amici*, and had decided to take both appeals under reserve without any further *ex parte* and *in camera* hearing.